MODEL FRONTIER OPERATING PROCEDURE



CANADIAN ASSOCIATION OF PETROLEUM LANDMEN
1988

TERMS OF USE AND DISCLAIMER FOR CAPL BUSINESS FORMS

USE

Model agreements and precedent business forms provided by the Canadian Association of Petroleum Landmen (CAPL Business Forms) are proprietary documents for use by its current members. All or any part of the CAPL Business Forms may not be provided (electronically or otherwise) to any non member of the CAPL. In addition, all or any part of the CAPL Business Forms may not be used in any publication and may not be distributed (electronically or otherwise) or used for educational purposes without the express prior written consent of the CAPL.

Membership applications for the CAPL can be downloaded from the CAPL website www landman ca

Enquiries regarding the CAPL Business Forms can be directed to the CAPL Office

DISCLAIMER

CAPL Business Forms and related annotations are intended for use as a guide only CAPL members are permitted to use the CAPL Business Forms where appropriate and to revise any provisions as desired provided those revisions are identified within the revised Business Form. Use of the CAPL Business Forms in whole or in part shall be at the sole discretion and risk of the user. Any user of a CAPL Business Form should exercise care and ensure that the form meets their particular requirements or that the form is revised accordingly. The CAPL does not assume responsibility for any statements in any form that relate to the suitability of all or any part of the CAPL Business Form for any user's particular requirements. Furthermore, the CAPL does not assume any responsibility for any harm or damages, however caused from the use or misuse of all or any part of a CAPL Business Form. CAPL makes no warranty express or implied in fact or by law. Anyone preparing oil and gas agreements should seek the advice of a CAPL member who is familiar with the preparation of these agreements and can advise as to the suitability of a CAPL Business Form for a particular circumstance.

Copyright^a 1983 The Canadian Association of Petroleum Landmen

All rights reserved. No part of this book may be reproduced in any form by any photographic electronic mechanical or other means or used in any information storage and retneval system without the written permission of the publisher

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1 00	INTERPRETATION									
	1 01	Definitions	1							
	1 02	Schedules	Ş							
	1 03	References	(
	1 04	Headings	ģ							
	1 05	Singular/Plural	10							
	1 06	Reference To Entities	10							
	1 07	Denvatives	10							
	1 08	Time	10							
	1 09	Use Of Canadian Funds	10							
	1 10	Alternate Provisions	10							
	1 11	Reference To Days	10							
	1 12	Conflicts	11							
2 00	SCO	PE OF OPERATING PROCEDURE	12							
	2 01	Operations To Be Conducted Pursuant To Operating Procedure	12							
	2 02	Parties To Negotiate Development Agreement	13							
3 00	APPI	LICATION OF OPERATING PROCEDURE TO SUB-AREAS	13							
	3 01	Matters Pertaining Solely To Single Sub Area	13							
	3 02	Matters Pertaining To More Than One Sub Area	13							
	3 03	Conduct Of Operations	14							
4 00	MAN	AGEMENT COMMITTEE	14							
	4 01	Creation And Structure Of The Management Committee	14							
	4 02	Meetings Of The Management Committee	16							
	4 03	Agendas, Minutes And Mail Ballots	17							
	4 04	Decisions Of Management Committee Conduct Of Votes	19							
	4 05	Powers And Duties Of Management Committee	20							
	4 06	Management Committee Decisions And A.F.E. s	23							
	4 07	Procedures To Apply To Subcommittees	24							
5 00	APPO	DINTMENT AND REPLACEMENT OF OPERATOR	24							
	5 01	Assumption Of Duties Of Operator	24							
	5 02	Replacement Of Operator	24							
	5 03	Challenge Of Operator	26							
	5 04	Appointment Of New Operator	28							
	5 05	Assignment Of Operatorship	29							
6 00	FUN	CTIONS AND DUTIES OF OPERATOR	29							
	6 01	Control And Management Of Operations	29							
	6 02	Operations Conducted In Proper Manner	33							
	6 03	Books And Records	33							
	6 04	Protection From Liens	33							
	6 05	Non Operator s Rights Of Access	34							
	6 06	Maintenance Of Documents Of Title	34							
	6 07	Operator As Representative Of The Parties	35							
	6 08	Operator To Apply To Environmental Studies Research Fund	35							
	6 09	Insurance	36							
	6 10	Forecasts	39							
	6 11	Taxes	40							
	6 12	Contracts	40							

	6 13	Application For Patents	41
	6 14	Obligation To Advise Parties Of Errors And Omissions	41
	6 15	Acquisition Of Necessary Rights	41
		Operator To Hold Joint Property In Trust	41
		Submission Of Information To Parties	42
	6 18	Rights Of Operator	43
7 00		INITY AND LIABILITY OF OPERATOR	44
		Limit Of Legal Responsibility	44
		Indemnification Of Operator	45
	7 03	Related Parties To Be Indemnified	46
8 00		COSTS AND EXPENSES	46
		Accounting Procedure As Basis	46
		Operator To Pay And Recover From Parties	46
		Advance Of Funds	46
		Operator's Lien	47
		Reimbursement Of Operator	49
		Default Of Operator	49
		Commingling Of Funds	49
	8 08	Charges And Credits Allocated On Basis Of Other Interests	50
9 00		ENDENT OPERATIONS	50
		Independent Operations Permitted	50
		Definitions Article 9 00	51
	9 03	Proposal Of Independent Operation	53
		Conduct Of Independent Operation Other Than Drilling	58
		Penalty For Independent Drilling	59
		Wells Which Maintain Title	60
		Application Of Forfeitures To Other Sub Areas	63
	9 00	General Provisions Respecting Independent Operations	64
10 00		TONSHIP OF PARTIES	67
	10 01	Tenants In Common	67
11 00		ENDER OF AGREEMENT LANDS	68
		Surrender Notice	68
	11.02	Reply To Surrender Notice	68
		Assignment Of Interest Surrendered	70
	11.04	Acquiring Parties To Meet Obligations	70
	11 05	All Parties Agree To Surrender	71
	11 00	Failure To Surrender As Agreed Surrender Of Sub Area	71
	1107	Sufferider Of Sub Area	71
12 00	LITIGA		72
	12 UI	Conduct Of Litigation	72
13 00		E MAJEURE	73
	13 01	Suspension Of Obligations Due To Force Majeure	73
	13 02	Obligation To Remedy	73
14 00		D STATES TAXES	73
	14 UI .	No US Tax Partnership	73

15 00	CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION 15 01 Confidentiality Requirement 15 02 Press Releases 15 03 Disclosure Of Information For Consideration 15 04 Confidentiality Requirement To Continue	74 74 76 76 76
16 00	PATENTS 16 01 Patentable Processes Held As Joint Property	77 77
17 00	WAIVER 17 01 Waiver Must Be In Writing 17 02 Deemed Waiver With Respect To Certain Procedural Matters	77 77 77
18 00	NOTICES 18 01 Service Of Notices 18 02 Forty Eight Hour Notices 18 03 Address For Service	77 77 79 79
19 00	NO PARTITION 19 01 Waiver Of Partition Or Sale	79 79
20 00	DISPOSITION OF INTERESTS 20 01 Definitions 20 02 Right To Dispose Of Interest 20 03 Exceptions To Clause 20 02 20 04 Novation Upon Disposition 20 05 Multiple Assignment Not To Increase Costs	79 79 80 82 82 83
21 00	DELINQUENT PARTY 21 01 Classification As Delinquent Party 21 02 Effect Of Classification As Delinquent Party 21 03 Funds To Be Held In Trust 21 04 Restoration Of Status 21 05 Operator's Lien Not Affected	83 83 83 84 84
22 00	ARBITRATION 22 01 Submission Of Certain Matters To Arbitration 22 02 Selection Of Arbitrator 22 03 Conduct Of Arbitration	85 85 86 87
23 00	MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 23 01 Time Of Essence 23 02 No Amendment Except In Writing 23 03 Enurement 23 04 Responsibility For Encumbrances 23 05 Supersedes Earlier Agreements 23 06 Perpetuities 23 07 Applicable Laws 23 08 Use Of Names 23 09 Further Assurances 23 10 Waiver Of Relief 23 11 Term	88 88 88 88 89 89 89 90 90

OPERATING PROCEDURE

Exhibit I, attached to and forming part of the Agreement dated the	day of
A.D 19, among	

1 00 **INTERPRETATION**

101 Definitions

In this Operating Procedure the following definitions shall apply, unless the context otherwise requires

- A. Abandonment means the proper plugging and abandonment of a well in compliance with the Regulations including the salvage of the salvageable material and equipment respecting such well and the restoration of the wellsite
- B Accounting Procedure means the rules, provisions and conditions set forth and contained in Schedule "B"
- C <u>A.F.E.</u>" means a written request by the Operator to the Non Operators for authority to make an expenditure for the conduct of a Joint Operation hereunder
- "Affiliate means with respect to the relationship between corporations that one of them is controlled by the other or that both of them are controlled by the same person, partnership, corporation or body politic and for this purpose a corporation shall be deemed to be controlled by those persons partnerships, corporations or bodies politic which own or effectively control, other than by way of security only, sufficient voting shares of the corporation (whether directly through the ownership of shares of the corporation or indirectly through the ownership of shares of another corporation which owns shares of the corporation) to elect the majority of its board of directors, provided that
 - a partnership which is a Party and which is comprised solely of corporations which are Affiliates as described above shall be deemed to be an Affiliate of each such corporation and

- ii) a corporation controlled in such manner by Her Majesty the Queen or an agency of her Majesty the Queen shall not be regarded as an Affiliate with respect to any other such corporation solely by reason of the common control of Her Majesty the Queen.
- E Agreement means the body of the document to which this Operating Procedure is attached and made a part thereof

- F Agreement Lands means those lands described in Schedule A or so much thereof which remain subject to this Operating Procedure from time to time and except where the context necessarily otherwise requires the Agreement Lands include the Petroleum Substances within upon or under such lands
- Average Document Interest means at any time with respect to a Document of Title the average interest of a Party in such Document of Title expressed as the ratio of the Net Hectares then held by such Party in that portion of the Agreement Lands subject to such Document of Title to the total hectares in that portion of the Agreement Lands subject to such Document of Title
- H "Average Interest" means, at any time, the average interest of a Party in the Agreement Lands, expressed as the ratio of the Net Hectares then held by such Party in the Agreement Lands to the total hectares in the Agreement Lands
- I <u>Deepen</u> means the drilling of a well hereunder to a depth or formation which is deeper than the target depth or formation to which such well was intended to be drilled at the time the Parties participating in such well initially approved the drilling of such well
- J "Delineation Well" means a well described in paragraph ____ [specify (a) or (b)] of this Subclause J, being
 - (a) a well drilled hereunder for the primary purpose of evaluating the reservoir extent, reservoir quality or economic viability of producing (other than for test purposes) from a Potentially Productive Unit when such well is so located in relation to another well which has penetrated an accumulation of Petroleum Substances in such Potentially Productive Unit that there is a reasonable expectation that such accumulation will also be penetrated by such well, or

(b) a well drilled hereunder for the primary purpose of evaluating the reservoir extent reservoir quality or economic viability of producing (other than for test purposes) from a Potentially Productive Unit encountered by a previously drilled well, when such well is drilled within _____ kilometres of such previously drilled well as measured at the point where the well bore of each such well intersects the top of such Potentially Productive Unit (or the top of the deepest such Potentially Productive Unit if more than one)

3

Provided that a well drilled within a Discovery Area shall be deemed to be a Delineation Well if it is drilled to evaluate the Potentially Productive Unit(s) included therein or shallower Geologic Units Notwithstanding the foregoing portion of this Subclause J a well shall be deemed to be a Delineation Well with respect to all Geological Units penetrated by such well to the base of such Potentially Productive Unit (or to the base of the deepest Potentially Productive Unit penetrated thereby if there is more than one Potentially Productive Unit penetrated by such well), and if such well penetrates Geologic Units which are deeper than the aforementioned Potentially Productive Unit, such well shall be an Exploratory Well with respect to such deeper Geologic Units

- K. <u>Discovery Area</u> means that portion of the Agreement Lands which is included in a declaration of significant discovery or a declaration of commercial discovery made pursuant to the Regulations, and, for the purposes of Subclause 9 02B (Exploratory Penalty Area) includes any portion of the Agreement Lands for which the Operator has, with the approval of the Management Committee, requested the appropriate governmental authorities to grant a declaration of significant discovery or a declaration of commercial discovery, insofar as such request has not been rejected or altered by such governmental authorities
- L "Documents of Title" means the documents listed in Schedule "A and any document issued or negotiated in place thereof or derived therefrom, including any amendments, renewals or extensions of any such documents, conferring any right to explore any portion of the Agreement Lands for Petroleum Substances, to develop those lands in order to produce Petroleum Substances or to produce Petroleum Substances therefrom
- M "Drilling Unit means a drilling rig, drillship, semi submersible barge jack up rig, platform, service rig or any other form of drilling structure utilized for the drilling or evaluation of a well hereunder

Clause 1 01

N "Environmental Studies Research Fund" means the environmental studies research fund established by the Regulations or any similar fund established by the Regulations to replace such fund.

- O "Exploratory Well means any well drilled pursuant to this Operating Procedure insofar as such well is not a Delineation Well
- P for the Joint Account means for the benefit, interest ownership risk cost expense and obligation of the Parties in proportion to their respective Working Interests Operation Working Interests Average Document Interests or Average Interests, as the context requires pursuant to Article 3 00 (Application Of Operating Procedure To Sub-Areas)
- "Force Majeure means an occurrence beyond the reasonable control of the Party claiming suspension of an obligation hereunder which has not been caused by such Party's negligence or fault and which such Party was unable to prevent or provide against by the exercise of reasonable diligence at a reasonable cost and includes without limiting the generality of the foregoing, an act of God, strike, lockout or other industrial disturbance act of the Queen's enemies, war revolution, insurrection blockade, riot fire lightning, unusually severe weather storms ice interference, flood, explosion, accident, shortage of labour or materials and the Regulations or other lawful requirements of governmental bodies or agencies, provided always that lack of finances shall in no event be deemed to be an occurrence or event beyond a Party's control
- R "Forecast means a written statement, initiated by the Operator, of the Joint Operations which are anticipated to be conducted on or with respect to the Agreement Lands during the Forecast Period, together with a written statement of the estimated expenditures to be made in connection with such operations
- S <u>Forecast Period</u>" means the twelve month period beginning on January 1st of each year or such other date as may be agreed upon by the Parties
- T Geologic Unit" means a body of rock which occupies a similar stratigraphic position, as determined by lithology, well log characteristics, geophysically correlatable events, biostrat igraphy or other age dating techniques

- U "Gross Negligence" means such wilful misconduct or such wilful omissions or such wanton and reckless conduct or omissions, as constitutes in effect a wilful or utter disregard for harmful, foreseeable and avoidable consequences
- V "Joint Operation means any operation study or other activity conducted by the Operator for the Joint Account pursuant to this Operating Procedure
- W 'Joint Property means, at any point in time the Agreement Lands together with all wells facilities, equipment materials information, funds and other property held for the Joint Account hereunder
- X "Management Committee" means the committee established pursuant to Clause 4 01 (Creation And Structure Of The Management Committee)
- Mobilization and Demobilization Costs means the costs incurred to arrange for to assemble and to transport a Drilling Unit and the personnel equipment, materials, services and supplies incidental thereto to the location of a well to be drilled hereunder including without limitation, any inspection and certification costs of such Drilling Unit required as a condition of governmental approval for the drilling of such well, and the cost in returning such Drilling Unit to its owner or the designate of such owner after the Rig Release of such well and the removal of such personnel, equipment materials and supplies from the location of such well, all as more particularly set forth in the Accounting Procedure
- Z Net Hectares means, with respect to the interest of a Party in any particular area of the Agreement Lands, the sum of the products obtained by multiplying the total number of hectares with respect to which such Party holds a uniform Working Interest in each specific portion of such area by the Working Interest of such Party in such portion
- AA. "Non Operator means a Party other than the Operator
- BB Operating Procedure" means the body of the document which includes this definition together with the Schedules attached hereto and made a part hereof
- CC "Operation Working Interest" means
 - (a) with respect to a well which is to be drilled upon or with respect to more than one Sub Area where the penalty applicable to non participation with respect to such well is

dependent on the determination of the Prospect to be penetrated by such well the percentage of costs of such well which is determined to be applicable to a Party's Working Interests in such Sub-Areas pursuant to Article 400 (Management Committee), paragraph 903A(c) (Proposal Of Independent Operation) or Article 2200 (Arbitration) as the case may be and

- (b) with respect to any operation other than as described in paragraph (a) of this Subclause CC which is to be conducted upon or with respect to more than one Sub Area the percentage of costs of such operation which is determined to be applicable to a Party's Working Interests in such Sub Areas by taking the ratio of the Net Hectares then held by such Party in the specific portions of the Agreement Lands with respect to which such operation is to be conducted to the total hectares in such specific portions of the Agreement Lands
- DD Operator means that Party designated by the Parties to conduct Joint Operations as provided hereunder
- EE "Party" means a person, firm, partnership, corporation, trust or other body politic or corporate which has a Working Interest and which is bound by this Operating Procedure
- FF <u>Petroleum Substances</u> means petroleum and natural gas and every other mineral or substance or any of them an interest in, or the right to explore for or to develop is granted or acquired pursuant to the Documents of Title or the Regulations
- GG Potentially Productive Unit" means a Geologic Unit insofar as in accordance with good oil field, geological engineering and economic practice, it has been indicated by a well to contain an accumulation of Petroleum Substances in sufficient quantities to warrant further drilling in order to evaluate the economic viability of producing (other than for test purposes) from such accumulation
- HH "Production Facilities means all equipment necessary for the production of Petroleum Substances (other than for test purposes) including without restricting the generality of the foregoing gathering facilities production platforms and all other facilities for the processing or transportation of Petroleum Substances
- II "Prospect means a Geologic Unit to be penetrated by a well to be drilled hereunder insofar as, in accordance with good oil field, geological, geophysical, engineering and economic

practice, such Geologic Unit is indicated to be a stratigraphic or structural geologic anomaly prospective of containing Petroleum Substances in sufficient quantities to warrant the drilling thereof

- JJ <u>the Regulations</u> means all statutes laws, rules orders and regulations in effect from time to time and made by governments or governmental boards or agencies having jurisdiction over the Agreement Lands or over the operations to be conducted thereon
- KK. Related Party means a Party having a Working Interest in a Sub Area contained in a particular Document of Title in relation to Parties holding Working Interests in the other Sub-Areas contained in such Document of Title
- LL Rig Release" means that point in time when the Drilling Unit used to drill a well hereunder is ready and able to move from the location of such well after such well has been drilled to its total depth and Suspended or Abandoned as the case may be
- MM Section" has the meaning contained in the Regulations
- NN "Sub Area" means, where the Working Interests of the Parties are not consistent throughout the Agreement Lands a specific three dimensional portion of the Agreement Lands with respect to which the Working Interests of those Parties holding Working Interests therein are consistent throughout, as more particularly described if applicable in Schedule A
- OO <u>Supplementary A.F.E.</u> means a written request by the Operator to the Non Operators for authority to make an additional expenditure for the conduct of a Joint Operation hereunder to the extent that such expenditure exceeds the amount the Operator has otherwise been authorized to expend for such operation pursuant to the provisions of this Operating Procedure
- PP "Suspend means to discontinue the drilling of a well and to place in such well such casing plugs and equipment as are necessary to enable such well to be re entered at a later date for the conduct of further operations

QQ "Third Person" means a person, firm, partnership, corporation, trust or other body politic or corporate that is not bound by this Operating Procedure, other than with respect to any obligations to which a former Party remains subject hereunder

8

- RR "Well Costs means all monies expended for drilling and Abandoning or Suspending a well hereunder, including without limiting the generality of the foregoing the costs of site specific surveys respecting the selection of the location for such well (if applicable), the costs of constructing an artificial island or berm (if applicable) access roads and site restoration (if applicable) the costs of any environmental engineering or socioeconomic study which is required to be conducted pursuant to the Regulations or the Documents of Title as a prerequisite to the issuance of governmental approval for the drilling of such well, the costs of logging, coring and testing such well, the cost of sidetracking such well (if applicable), the costs for contracting the services of a Drilling Unit for the drilling of such well, Mobilization and Demobilization Costs attributable thereto and all other costs applicable to such well insofar as they are necessarily incidental to the drilling of such well
- SS Working Interest means the share expressed as a percentage to which each Party is entitled, as among the Parties in the rights conferred by the Documents of Title with respect to any portion of the Agreement Lands, as set out in Schedule "A", including any amend ments of such Schedule made from time to time

1 02 Schedules

A. Schedules Incorporated Into Operating Procedure

The following Schedules are attached hereto and made part of this Operating Procedure

- (a) Schedule "A, which describes the Documents of Title, the Agreement Lands the Sub Areas (if applicable) and the Working Interests of the Parties,
- (b) Schedule "B", which is the Accounting Procedure,
- (c) Schedule C, which describes the policies of insurance required pursuant to Subclause 6 09B (Policies To Be Obtained For The Joint Account),

(d) Schedule "D", which specifies the drilling information to be supplied to the Parties pursuant to Clause 6 17 (Submission Of Information To Parties), and

9

(e) Schedule E", which lists the address for service of each Party

B Revision Of Schedules

- (a) The Operator shall when necessary, forward revised copies of Schedule A Schedule C and Schedule E to the Parties in a timely manner Each such revised Schedule shall be numbered consecutively and shall include the effective date of such revision
- (b) A revised Schedule shall be deemed to be correct unless, within thirty (30) days of the receipt thereof a Party notifies the other Parties that it does not believe that such revised Schedule is accurate and its reasons for such belief. Unless another Party objects to such Party's proposed correction within ten (10) days of the receipt of such Party's notice the Operator shall issue a corrected Schedule, effective as of the effective date of such revised Schedule. In the event another Party objects to such Party's proposed correction or if a Party proposes a correction to a revised Schedule more than thirty (30) days after the receipt thereof, the correction of such Schedule shall be determined by the Management Committee provided that such corrected Schedule shall be effective retroactively to the effective date of such revised Schedule, unless otherwise directed by the Management Committee. However in the event the Management Committee is unable to make such determination the correction of such Schedule and the effective date of such correction may be referred to arbitration pursuant to Article 22 00 (Arbitration)

103 References

Unless otherwise expressly stated the references hereunder," herein and hereof refer to the provisions of this Operating Procedure, and references to Articles, Clauses Subclauses, paragraphs or subparagraphs herein refer to Articles, Clauses, Subclauses, paragraphs or subparagraphs of the body of this Operating Procedure

1 04 Headings

The headings of Articles Clauses and Subclauses herein and any other headings or captions or index hereto shall not be used in any way in construing or interpreting any provision hereof

10 Clause 1 05

1 05 Singular/Plural

Where the singular, masculine or neuter is used herein, the same shall be construed as the plural or feminine and vice versa as the context or the reference to the Parties may require

106 Reference To Entities

A reference to an entity herein either by its name or its status with respect to a particular provision hereof at a particular point in time shall be deemed to include a reference to the successor or predecessor in interest of such Party, as the context may require

107 Derivatives

Where a term is defined herein a capitalized derivative of such term shall have a corresponding meaning unless the context otherwise requires

108 Time

Any reference to time herein shall mean Mountain Standard Time or Mountain Daylight Time during the respective intervals in which each is in force

109 <u>Use Of Canadian Funds</u>

All references to dollars or \$ herein shall mean lawful currency of Canada, and, subject to the Accounting Procedure, all billings and payments shall be in Canadian currency

1 10 Alternate Provisions

Where alternate provisions are provided for herein and the Parties have failed to designate which of such alternate provisions shall apply, the first alternate provision in each such case shall apply, as if the Parties had designated such alternate provision

111 References To Days

Any reference to days herein is a reference to calendar days unless specifically stated otherwise, and where the phrase "within" or "at least" is used with reference to a specific number of days herein, the day of receipt of the relevant notice and the day of the relevant response, meeting

or event, as the case may be, shall be excluded in determining the relevant time period Notwithstanding the foregoing sentence, in the event the time for doing any act expires on a Saturday, Sunday, provincial statutory holiday in the Province of Alberta or a federal statutory holiday in Canada, the time for doing such act shall be extended to the next normal business day except as prescribed in the Accounting Procedure with respect to the payment of billings

11

1 12 Conflicts

A. Conflicts Within Document

If any provision contained in the body of the Agreement conflicts with a provision in the body of this Operating Procedure or in a Schedule attached hereto, the provision of the body of the Agreement shall prevail and if any provision contained in a Schedule attached hereto conflicts with a provision in the body of this Operating Procedure the provision of the body of this Operating Procedure shall prevail

B Conflicts Between Document And Regulations

In the event of any conflict between the body of the Agreement or this Operating Procedure and the Regulations or the Documents of Title, the Regulations or the Documents of Title as the case may be, shall govern The Agreement and this Operating Procedure thereupon shall be deemed to be modified accordingly, and, as so modified, the Agreement and this Operating Procedure shall continue in full force and effect at all times Notwithstanding the Regulations or the Documents of Title, however

- 1) the Working Interests of the Parties shall prevail for the purposes of this Operating Procedure where the Working Interests of the Parties in the Agreement Lands or a portion thereof, differ from the registered interests with respect to the Document of Title applicable to such Agreement Lands, and
- ii) the allocation of legal responsibility among the Parties for losses incurred hereunder including without restricting the generality of the foregoing, Article 7 00 (Indemnity And Liability Of Operator) and Subclause 9 08F (Indemnification And Liability), shall govern among the Parties

12 Clause 1 12

C Severability

Notwithstanding the foregoing Subclauses of this Clause 1 12, if any provision of the body of the Agreement or this Operating Procedure is prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction to which a Party is subject, such provision shall as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating the remaining provisions hereof or affecting the validity or enforceability of such provision in any other jurisdiction

200 SCOPE OF OPERATING PROCEDURE

201 Operations To Be Conducted Pursuant To Operating Procedure

This Operating Procedure shall govern the operation of the Agreement Lands and the maintenance of the Joint Property by the Parties and shall apply to

- (a) the drilling Suspension and Abandonment of Exploratory Wells and Delineation Wells on the Agreement Lands and the testing and other evaluation of such wells,
- (b) the conduct of geological operations, geophysical operations and geochemical operations upon or respecting the Agreement Lands
- (c) the conduct of environmental socioeconomic or engineering studies relating to the exploration of the Agreement Lands
- (d) the conduct of environmental socioeconomic or engineering studies related to the future development of the Agreement Lands, including studies pertaining to the acquisition and installation of Production Facilities and the production, processing and transportation of Petroleum Substances to the anticipated point of market
- (e) the preparation and submission to governmental authorities of socioeconomic and environ mental impact statements development plans and such other documents as may be required to be submitted to such authorities with respect to the exploration or development of the Agreement Lands
- (f) the conduct of any other operation or activity required to be performed with respect to the Agreement Lands pursuant to the Regulations or Documents of Title and

(g) such other items as may be described in the Agreement or as may be subsequently unani mously agreed by the Parties

202 Parties To Negotiate Development Agreement

If Petroleum Substances are discovered on the Agreement Lands in sufficient quantities that it is reasonably anticipated that production of such Petroleum Substances (other than for test purposes) will occur in the foreseeable future the Parties shall proceed with due diligence and in good faith to negotiate an agreement respecting the development of such Agreement Lands, including without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the drilling of wells for the purpose of production, the acquisition and installation of Production Facilities the production and processing of Petroleum Substances and the transportation thereof to the anticipated point of market. Such agreement shall include provisions whereby each party thereto shall own and have the obligation to take and dispose of its share of the production of Petroleum Substances thereunder in kind

3 00 APPLICATION OF OPERATING PROCEDURE TO SUB-AREAS

3 01 Matters Pertaining Solely To Single Sub Area

If the Agreement Lands include any Sub-Area and a particular matter, right, vote obligation or operation pertains solely to such Sub Area this Operating Procedure shall apply to such Sub Area with respect to such particular item, as if such Sub Area comprised all of the Agreement Lands In such event a Party which does not have a Working Interest in such Sub Area shall not have any rights or obligations with respect to such matter, right vote, obligation or operation other than those which it specifically may have pursuant to this Operating Procedure by virtue of its status as a Related Party, and references to terms such as Joint Account Party", "Non Operator and "Management Committee shall be construed accordingly

3 02 Matters Pertaining To More Than One Sub Area

A. Matters Pertaining To Agreement Lands Or Document Of Title In Entirety

If the Agreement Lands include any Sub Area and a particular matter, right, vote obligation or operation pertains to the Agreement Lands in their entirety or solely pertains to all of the Agreement Lands included in the Document of Title which includes such Sub Area, the rights and obligations applicable to such matter, right, vote, obligation or operation shall be shared

by the Parties in the proportions of their Average Interests or Average Document Interests, as the case may be, and references to terms such as Joint Account", "Party" Non Operator and "Management Committee" shall be construed accordingly

B Matters Pertaining To Specific Portion Of Agreement Lands

If the Agreement Lands include any Sub Area and a particular matter, right, vote obligation or operation pertains to a specific portion of the Agreement Lands other than as described in Clause 3 01 (Matters Pertaining Solely To Single Sub Area) and Subclause A of this Clause 3 02 the rights and obligations applicable to such matter right vote, obligation or operation shall be shared by the Parties in the proportions of their Operation Working Interests or such other proportions as the context may necessarily require, as the case may be, and references to terms such as "Joint Account" Party", Non Operator" and Management Committee shall be construed accordingly. In the event of a dispute as to the manner in which such rights and obligations are to be shared among such Parties a Party may refer such matter to arbitration for resolution pursuant to Article 22 00 (Arbitration). This Subclause B however shall only apply to the drilling of a well if the penalty applicable to non participation with respect thereto is dependent on the determination of the Prospect to be penetrated by such well.

3 03 Conduct Of Operations

Notwithstanding the provisions of Articles 5 00 (Appointment And Replacement Of Operator) and 6 00 (Functions And Duties Of Operator) if the Operator does not hold a Working Interest in the Sub-Area upon or with respect to which an operation is to be conducted and such operation will not utilize facilities, material or equipment held as Joint Property such operation shall be conducted by the Party selected pursuant to Clause 5 04 (Appointment Of New Operator) by those Parties having a Working Interest in such Sub Area Insofar as is required for the conduct of such operation, such Party shall have the same rights and obligations as the Operator, as prescribed herein

400 MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

401 <u>Creation And Structure Of The Management Committee</u>

A. Creation Of Management Committee

A Management Committee, comprised of the representatives of each Party designated under Subclause B of this Clause 401 is hereby created to provide for the orderly planning of

activities to be conducted pursuant to this Operating Procedure and the consideration of other matters respecting such activities and the Agreement Lands

B Representatives And Alternates

- (a) Each Party shall, by notice to the other Parties, designate one representative who shall be authorized to act for such Party, and two alternates either of whom shall have full power to act for such Party pursuant to this Article 400 in the absence of such representative Such designations shall include the home addresses and telephone numbers of such persons in order to enable them to be contacted at all times. Any Party may change its representative or any of its alternates at any time by giving notice to the other Parties. In the event none of such personnel are able to represent a Party at a meeting of the Management Committee, such Party may designate another person to act as its representative at such meeting if written authorization to such effect is provided to the Operator prior to the commencement of such meeting.
- (b) A Party may appoint any other Party's representative or alternate as its proxy to act on its behalf as its representative at any meeting or series of meetings of the Management Committee Such appointment of proxy shall be in writing and shall set forth the extent of the authority granted to the proxy holder. Such proxy shall be effective if it is delivered to the representative of the Operator prior to the commencement of such meeting or the first of such meetings as the case may be
- (c) Subject to Clause 4 06 (Management Committee Decisions And A.F.E. s) each represent tative shall have full power and authority to represent and bind the Party it represents at a duly constituted meeting of the Management Committee with respect to all matters or proposals which are within the powers and duties of the Management Committee and all acts done by such representative in such capacity shall be deemed to be the acts of the Party appointing such representative

C Advisors

Unless and to the extent that the Parties have previously agreed to restrict attendance to the representatives of the Parties with respect to the consideration of a specific item a representative attending a meeting of the Management Committee may be accompanied by a reasonable number of advisors, and the chairman of the Management Committee may be accompanied by additional attendees to the extent reasonably necessary to record the minutes of such meeting or otherwise to assist with the conduct of such meeting

D Management Committee And Sub-Areas

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Article 400, in the event the Agreement Lands include a Sub Area, each reference to the Management Committee herein shall mean only the representatives of those Parties which have a voting interest with respect to the specific matter to be discussed or determined as determined pursuant to paragraph 404C(d) (Voting Procedure)

16

402 Meetings Of The Management Committee

A. Management Committee To Meet At Least Annually

The Operator may convene a meeting of the Management Committee at any time it deems appropriate and it shall also promptly convene a meeting of the Management Committee at the request of a Non Operator Notwithstanding the foregoing sentence and Subclause 4 03C (Mail Ballots) the Management Committee shall meet at least annually to review the Forecast in accordance with Clause 6 10 (Forecasts)

B Notice Of Meeting And Agenda

- (a) The Operator shall give all Parties notice of the date time, place and purpose of a meeting of the Management Committee, accompanied by an agenda for such meeting and sufficient information to enable the Parties to consider beforehand the nature of the matters to be discussed at such meeting and to make an informed decision with respect to such matters
- (b) Such notice shall be given at least fifteen (15) days in advance of the date of such meeting, unless (and only insofar as) the Parties waive such notice requirement or such meeting is with respect to
 - the evaluation of a well where a Drilling Unit is then at the location of such well the conduct of an operation described in Subclause 9 01B (Exception To Subclause A) a situation which the Operator considers to be an emergency or the consideration of a Supplementary A.F.E. pursuant to Subclause 6 01F (Non Drilling Supplementary A.F.E. s Referred To Management Committee), in which case a meeting of the Management Committee shall be held forthwith, or
 - 11) the selection of an arbitrator pursuant to Subclause 22 02B (Management Committee To Select Arbitrator), in which case a meeting of the Management Committee shall be held within seven (7) days of receipt of such notice

- (c) Each item to be determined by the Management Committee at such meeting shall be placed on the agenda for such meeting in the form of a motion for which a Party can vote either in the affirmative or in the negative. In the event any item is too complex to be so proposed it may be presented as a series of motions, some or all of which may depend on the determination made with respect to the preceding motion
- (d) Insofar as subparagraphs (b)(1) or (11) of this Subclause B are not applicable, any Party shall have the right to require the Operator to place an item on the agenda for a meeting of the Management Committee, provided such item and sufficient information to enable the Parties to consider beforehand the nature of such item and to make an informed decision with respect thereto shall be furnished to the other Parties by such Party within five (5) days of receipt of the notice of such meeting

C Chairman Of The Management Committee

The representative of the Operator shall preside as the chairman of the Management Committee

D Place Of Meetings

All meetings of the Management Committee shall be held at the office of the Operator in Calgary or at such other place as the Parties may agree, provided that any meeting convened pursuant to subparagraph B(b)(1) or (11) of this Clause 4 02 may be conducted by telephone conference call and that notwithstanding Subclause 4 03C (Mail Ballots), any vote with respect thereto may be made by notice by either telephone or telecommunication

E Quorum

Attendance of authorized representatives (including proxies) of the Parties sufficient to satisfy the voting threshold prescribed by paragraph 404C(a) (Voting Procedure) shall constitute a quorum for a meeting of the Management Committee Subject to the procedural restrictions provided in this Article 400, the Management Committee shall be entitled to exercise all or any of the authorities, powers and discretions bestowed upon it hereunder at a meeting thereof if a quorum is present for such meeting

4 03 Agendas, Minutes And Mail Ballots

A. Decisions Confined To Items In The Agenda

Subject to paragraph 402B(d) (Notice Of Meeting And Agenda) and Subclause C of this Clause 403 all decisions of the Management Committee shall be confined to items contained

in the agenda for the meeting of the Management Committee at which such matter is decided However, a matter not on the agenda for a meeting of the Management Committee may be decided upon at such meeting only if the representatives of all the Parties, whether in attendance at such meeting or not, agree that such matter shall be decided by the Manage ment Committee at such meeting

18

B Minutes

- (a) The Operator shall be responsible for the recording of the minutes of a meeting of the Management Committee. Such minutes shall be prepared and sent by the Operator to each Party as soon as is practicable, provided that such minutes shall be prepared and sent to the Parties forthwith in the event that the meeting to which such minutes pertain was conducted by telephone conference call. The minutes of such meeting shall include the names of the representatives present and the Parties they represent, any determination made by the Management Committee at such meeting and the results of any mail ballot conducted since the preceding meeting of the Management Committee
- (b) Minutes of a meeting of the Management Committee shall be deemed to be correct as distributed, effective as of the date of such meeting unless notice of errors or omissions therein is received by the Operator from a Party within twenty (20) days of the date on which they were received by the Parties If notice of an error or omission is received by the Operator within such period, such minutes shall be presented to the Management Committee at the next meeting thereof for approval as drafted or for correction provided that only those Parties present during the meeting to which such minutes relate shall be entitled to vote on such approval or correction

C Mail Ballots

Any matter which is within the powers and duties of the Management Committee may be determined by the Management Committee without a Management Committee meeting if such matter is submitted by the Operator by way of notice to all of the Parties, provided that the Operator includes with such notice sufficient information respecting the matter to be so determined to enable the Parties to make an informed decision with respect to such matter Each Party shall cast its vote with respect to such matter by written notice to the Operator within fifteen (15) days of the receipt of such notice, and the Operator shall advise the Parties of the results of such vote in a timely manner. However, such determination shall not be binding if a Party had objected to having such matter determined in such manner by notice to the Parties within five (5) days of the receipt of such notice.

4 04 Decisions Of Management Committee Conduct Of Votes

A. Affiliates As Single Entity

Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary contained herein, in the event that two or more Parties are Affiliates, they shall be regarded as a single entity for all voting purposes hereunder If pursuant to Clause 8 04 (Operator's Lien) or Clause 8 06 (Default Of Operator), a Party is precluded from voting with respect to a matter, any Affiliate of such Party which otherwise may have been entitled to vote with respect to such matter similarly shall be precluded from voting with respect to such matter

B Voting Interests Where Interests Vary Stratigraphically

In the event that the Working Interests of the Parties with respect to any Section of the Agreement Lands vary among the Geologic Units contained therein and a vote does not pertain specifically to any particular Geologic Unit or Sub Area, the Working Interests of the Parties in such Section for the purposes of the conduct of votes and the calculation of the Net Hectares, the Average Interests and the Average Document Interests of the Parties and the rights and obligations attributable thereto shall be deemed to be, unless the context otherwise requires, either

- 1) the Working Interests of the Parties in the deepest Potentially Productive Unit which has been demonstrated to be contained in such Section or
- 11) the Working Interests of the Parties in the deepest of the Geologic Units contained in such Section in the event that no Potentially Productive Unit has been demonstrated to be contained therein.

Provided that in the event subsequently acquired information dictates that the deemed Working Interests described above are incorrect, the deemed Working Interests shall be adjusted accordingly at such time without any retroactive effect

C Voting Procedure

Subject	t to t	he p	rovisions	of	thıs	Clause	4 04,	all	matters	to	be	decided	by	the	Mana	gemen
Commi	ittee s	shall	be deter	mine	ed as	follow	'S									

(a)	Except	as	otherwise	provided	ın	thıs	Clause	4 04,	the	Manageme	ent (Committee	shall
	determi	ne	matters by	the affirm		c	r more Par	ties l	holding Wo	orking			
	Interest	s to	talling	%	or	more	provid	ed tha	t no	single Party	shal	l have the	power

to defeat a motion unless such Party holds a Working Interest of fifty percent (50%) or more

- (b) Matters contained in paragraphs (a), (b), (c), (d) (e), (f) ______ of Clause 405 (Powers And Duties Of Management Committee) shall require the unanimous consent of the Parties Failing such consent with respect to the matters described in paragraphs (b) (c) or (f) of Clause 405, a Party may refer such matter to arbitration for resolution pursuant to Article 22.00 (Arbitration)
- (c) Failure of a Party's representative to vote on a proposal shall be deemed to have been an affirmative vote by such Party with respect to such proposal and a Party which fails to send a representative or a proxy to a meeting of the Management Committee shall be deemed to have voted in the affirmative for all proposals determined at such meeting provided that in either event such Party shall be deemed to have voted in the negative where such matter requires the unanimous approval of the Management Committee. In recording the results of a vote or in the minutes of such meeting as the case may be such Party shall be listed as having failed to vote, abstained or been absent from such meeting, as the case may be Notwithstanding the foregoing portion of this paragraph (c) a Party which is not represented at a meeting of the Management Committee may vote on any matter on the agenda for such meeting by prior notice to the Parties
- (d) Notwithstanding paragraphs (a) and (b) of this Subclause C, in the event that the context requires that the determination in such paragraphs be based on an interest other than the Working Interests of the Parties such determination shall be based on the Average Document Interests the Average Interests, the Operation Working Interests or such other interests of the Parties as the context may require. In the event of a dispute as to the interest which is the appropriate voting interest for a particular determination, a Party may refer such matter to arbitration for resolution pursuant to Article 22 00 (Arbitration)

4 05 Powers And Duties Of Management Committee

The Management Committee shall consider and decide upon the following matters

- (a) the location timing and drilling of wells on the Agreement Lands, including the Deepening of wells
- (b) the determination of the Prospect and the Operation Working Interests applicable to a well which will evaluate a Prospect included in more than one Sub Area insofar as the forfeiture of interest applicable to non participation with respect to such well would be based on a determination of the Prospect

- (c) the settlement of unresolved audit exceptions hereunder,
- (d) whether a dispute will be referred to arbitration pursuant to Subclause 22 01B (Certain Disputes To Be Referred To Arbitration By Management Committee)
- (e) any other matter which is not elsewhere provided for in this Operating Procedure which is subsequently to be determined by less than unanimous approval pursuant to paragraph 4 04C(a) (Voting Procedure)
- (f) the correction of a Schedule pursuant to paragraph 102B(b) (Revision Of Schedules)
- (g) the conduct of a testing program exceeding _____ days with respect to a well which had been drilled for the Joint Account,
- (h) the establishment of such subcommittees as may be deemed appropriate and the powers of the Management Committee to be delegated thereto
- (1) the approval or correction of minutes of a meeting of the Management Committee as provided in paragraph 403B(b) (Minutes),
- (1) the conduct of geophysical geological and geochemical operations upon or respecting the Agreement Lands, other than drilling operations and the site specific surveys relating thereto
- (k) the parameters for the conduct of site specific surveys respecting wells which have been agreed to be drilled for the Joint Account,
- (l) the conduct and parameters of environmental socioeconomic and engineering studies pertaining to the exploration of the Agreement Lands, other than studies required to be conducted as a prerequisite to the issuance of governmental approval pursuant either to the Regulations or the Documents of Title for the drilling of a well
- (m) the conduct and parameters of environmental socioeconomic or engineering studies related to the future development of the Agreement Lands including studies pertaining to the acquisition and installation of Production Facilities and the production processing and transportation of Petroleum Substances to the anticipated point of market
- (n) the evaluation of wells drilled for the Joint Account, including without limiting the generality of the foregoing the logging coring and initial testing program of such wells other than as described in paragraph (g) of this Clause 4 05

- (o) the Suspension or Abandonment of wells drilled for the Joint Account,
- (p) whether the Operator has failed in the performance or satisfaction of its duties or obligations hereunder or has failed to rectify a default pursuant to paragraphs 5 02A(d) or (e) (Immediate Replacement Of Operator),
- (q) the timing of a change of Operatorship, the waiver of requisite Average Interest or Working Interest thresholds or direction with respect to the conduct of operations pending a change of Operatorship, all as described in paragraphs 5 02B(a) and (b) (Delayed Replacement Of Operator),
- (r) the removal of the Operator pursuant to Clause 503 (Challenge Of Operator)
- (s) the selection of a successor Operator pursuant to Clause 5 04 (Appointment Of New Operator)
- (t) whether consent will be given to an assignment of Operatorship pursuant to Clause 5 05 (Assignment Of Operatorship),
- (u) settlement of a Third Person damage claim in excess of the amount prescribed by sub paragraph 601B(a)(ii) (Expenditure Limitations), if such claim is not covered by policies of insurance maintained for the Joint Account or is under the deductible limit thereof
- (v) the approval of Supplementary A.F.E s respecting Joint Operations pursuant to Subclause 601F (Non Drilling Supplementary A.F.E s Referred To Management Committee),
- (w) the parameters within which the Operator has the right to act as the representative of the Parties pursuant to Clause 6 07 (Operator As Representative Of The Parties),
- (x) revisions to the types or amounts of insurance to be obtained for the Joint Account pursuant to Subclause 6 09B (Policies To Be Obtained For The Joint Account) or amendments to such policies,
- (y) the amount of a deductible to be included in a policy of insurance to be obtained for the Joint Account, subject to Subclause 6 09C (Deductibles),
- (z) the policies of insurance which a Party is required to maintain pursuant to Subclause 6 09G (Parties Responsible For Physical Damage To Property),
- (aa) the approval of Forecasts and revisions of Forecasts pursuant to Clause 6 10 (Forecasts)

- (bb) whether the Operator will be permitted to enter into a contract requiring the approval of the Management Committee pursuant to paragraph 6 12A(b) (Contracts Awarded On A Prudent And Competitive Basis)
- (cc) the parameters for the registration of any copyright or application for patents respecting patentable processes procedures or equipment arising out of Joint Operations
- (dd) the actions to be taken pursuant to paragraph 8 04B(c) (Operator's Rights) in the event of the default of a Party to pay any amount owing by it pursuant to this Operating Procedure
- (ee) whether to require the Operator to maintain funds held for the Joint Account in a separate trust account pursuant to Clause 8 07 (Commingling Of Funds),
- (ff) the parameters for the conduct of litigation being conducted for the Joint Account pursuant to Clause 12 01 (Conduct Of Litigation)
- (gg) whether and how to restrict the permitted disclosure of information pursuant to Clause 15 01 (Confidentiality Requirement) including the form of the covenant of confidentiality to be obtained from Third Persons to which information may be disclosed thereunder
- (hh) whether to permit a press release pursuant to Clause 15 02 (Press Releases),
- (ii) whether the Operator is to forward a notice pursuant to Clause 21 01 (Classification As Delinquent Party),
- (jj) the selection of an arbitrator, subject to Subclause 22 02B (Management Committee To Select Arbitrator)
- (kk) the settlement of any questions or approvals required pursuant to the Accounting Procedure, subject to paragraph (e) of this Clause 405 and
- (II) any matters respecting Joint Operations or the Agreement Lands which are under the sole discretion and control of the Operator, but for which the Operator desires advice

406 Management Committee Decisions And A.F.E s

Unless waived by the Parties with respect to a specific expenditure any decision of the Manage ment Committee with respect to a matter described in paragraphs (a) (g), (j), (k) (l) or (m) of Clause 4 05 (Powers And Duties Of Management Committee) is contingent upon the approval of the related A.F.E pursuant to Clause 6 01 (Control And Management Of Operations) by Parties holding the interest threshold prescribed by Subclause 4 04C (Voting Procedure) with respect to

the approval of such matter Except as provided in the foregoing sentence, any decision of the Management Committee shall obligate the Parties to execute the A.F.E. resulting therefrom, provided such A.F.E. substantially conforms to the information on which such decision was based Approvals of any Supplementary A.F.E. s respecting A.F.E. s approved pursuant to this Clause 4.06 however shall in all cases be subject to the provisions of Clause 6.01

4 07 <u>Procedures To Apply To Subcommittees</u>

The provisions of this Article 400 pertaining to the composition and the procedures of the Management Committee shall apply mutatis mutandis to govern the composition and procedures of any subcommittee established by the Management Committee pursuant to this Article 400

500 APPOINTMENT AND REPLACEMENT OF OPERATOR

501 Assumption Of Duties Of Operator

The Operator named in the Agreement or any succeeding Operator appointed hereunder shall assume the duties and obligations of the Operator hereunder and shall have the rights of the Operator hereunder

5 02 Replacement Of Operator

A. <u>Immediate Replacement Of Operator</u>

The Operator shall cease to be Operator and a Non Operator shall become the Operator forthwith if the Operator

- (a) commits or suffers any act of insolvency, appoints a receiver makes any general assignment for the benefit of creditors or allows any final judgement to be filed without recourse to further appeal whereby the Operator is required to hold, to dispose of or to convey its entire Working Interest in the Agreement Lands or the Documents of Title to or for the benefit of a Party or a Third Person.
- (b) takes steps to dissolve, liquidate or terminate its corporate existence, except in the case of a merger, amalgamation or corporate reorganization
- (c) subject to Clause 5 05 (Assignment Of Operatorship) assigns or attempts to assign all or substantially all of its powers and obligations as Operator hereunder
- (d) fails in the performance or satisfaction of its duties or obligations hereunder or any of them, and does not commence to rectify such failure within thirty (30) days following

either a determination by the Management Committee that the Operator is in default or written acknowledgement by the Operator that it is in default, or such lesser period as may be prescribed by the Regulations, as the case may be, and thereafter diligently continue to remedy such failure, provided that the Operator shall in any event be replaced immediately where such obligations must be fulfilled at the time of such default in order to protect life or property, or

(e) is determined by the Management Committee to have failed to prosecute diligently rectification of a default referred to in paragraph (d) of this Subclause A.

B Delayed Replacement Of Operator

- (a) The Operator shall cease to be Operator and a Non Operator shall become Operator if
 - 1) the Operator tenders its resignation as Operator provided that an Operator may not resign as Operator without the consent of the other Parties unless it has been Operator for at least two years immediately prior to such proposed resignation
 - 11) the Operator is removed pursuant to Clause 5 03 (Challenge Of Operator)
 - iii) the Operator reduces its Average Interest to less than ten percent (10%), unless either the Management Committee waives this restriction or the Operator's Average Interest is greater than that of each of the other Parties at the time of such reduction or
 - iv) the Operator does not hold a Working Interest in more than fifty percent (50%) of the Agreement Lands unless either the Management Committee waives this restriction or the percentage of the Agreement Lands in which the Operator retains a Working Interest is greater than that of each of the other Parties at the relevant time

In such case the transfer of Operatorship shall be effective at 8 00 a m on the first (1st) day of the sixth (6th) calendar month next following the calendar month in which such event occurred unless the Management Committee designates a different date for the change of Operatorship

(b) Notwithstanding paragraph (a) of this Subclause B, the Operator shall not commence a drilling operation pursuant to this Operating Procedure during the period described in such paragraph without the consent of the Management Committee and, in the event that the Operator is conducting such a drilling operation at the time it would otherwise cease to be the Operator, the Operator shall not cease to be the Operator with respect to such

operation until the Abandonment or Suspension of such well unless otherwise directed by the Management Committee

(c) Notwithstanding subparagraphs (a)(iii) and (a)(iv) of this Subclause B in the event that an Affiliate of either the Operator or a Challenging Non Operator (as defined in Clause 5 03 Challenge Of Operator) holds a Working Interest in the Agreement Lands, such Working Interest shall be deemed to be held by the Operator or the Challenging Non Operator, as the case may be, for any determination pursuant to such subparagraphs

C Assignment Of Contracts, Materials And Personnel

In the event that the Operator is to be replaced pursuant to this Clause 502

- (a) a successor Operator shall give due consideration to the employment of any of the outgoing Operator's personnel who had been assigned to work for the Joint Account and who such outgoing Operator reasonably deems surplus to its needs because of such outgoing Operator's replacement as Operator, and
- (b) the outgoing Operator shall use all reasonable efforts to transfer to the successor Operator effective as of the effective date of the transfer of Operatorship, its rights as Operator under all contracts entered into pursuant to this Operating Procedure which are not with an Affiliate of such outgoing Operator and which relate exclusively to operations conducted (or to be conducted) pursuant to this Operating Procedure Such successor Operator shall assume all obligations of such outgoing Operator thereunder, unless such a contract or lease contains provisions for early termination. In this event such successor Operator may with the approval of those Parties other than the outgoing Operator and any Affiliate of such outgoing Operator, terminate such contract or lease, with any damages or penalties respecting such termination being a charge for the Joint Account

5 03 Challenge Of Operator

A. Challenge

At any time after an Operator has been the Operator for at least ______ years hereunder a Non Operator (hereinafter referred to in this Article 5 00 as "the Challenging Non Operator") may give notice to the other Parties that it wishes the Operator to be replaced and that it is prepared to assume the Operatorship, such notice hereinafter referred to in this Clause 5 03 as a Challenge Notice

- 27 Clause 5 03

B Management Committee To Determine Whether Operator To Be Replaced

Following receipt of a Challenge Notice, the Operator shall promptly convene a meeting of the Management Committee to be held not earlier than forty five (45), and not later than sixty (60) days following receipt of such Challenge Notice to determine whether the Challenging Non Operator shall assume the Operatorship in the place of the Party then acting as the Operator Notwithstanding the foregoing sentence, such challenge shall be deemed to have been rejected by the Management Committee if Parties holding the Working Interest threshold required to reject such challenge have by notice, advised the Parties prior to such meeting of their intention to vote against such challenge

C Assumption Of Operatorship

If the Management Committee determines that the Challenging Non Operator shall assume the Operatorship, the Challenging Non Operator shall become Operator at the time determined pursuant to Subclause 5 02B (Delayed Replacement Of Operator)

D Restriction On Assumption Of Operatorship

Notwithstanding the foregoing Subclauses of this Clause 5 03, the Challenging Non Operator shall be precluded from assuming the Operatorship if, at the time such Party were to assume the Operatorship, such Party would be subject to replacement pursuant to either Subclause 5 02A (Immediate Replacement Of Operator) or Subclause 5 02B (Delayed Replacement Of Operator)

E Compensation For Replaced Operator

Subject to Clause 22 01 (Submission Of Certain Matters To Arbitration), if the Challenging Non Operator becomes the Operator pursuant to this Clause 5 03, the outgoing Operator shall be compensated for all reasonable costs and expenses directly associated with or attributable to its removal as Operator provided that the outgoing Operator shall diligently attempt to minimize such costs and expenses Such compensation shall be a charge for the Joint Account

28 Clause 5 04

5 04 Appointment Of New Operator

A. Management Committee To Appoint

In the event that an Operator resigns or is to be replaced, a new Operator shall be appointed by the Management Committee subject to Clause 5 03 (Challenge Of Operator) and Clause 5 05 (Assignment Of Operatorship)

B Failure To Appoint Successor Operator

No Party shall be appointed Operator pursuant to this Clause 5 04 unless it has given its written consent to such appointment. However, if the Parties fail to appoint a successor Operator, the Non-Operator having the greatest Average Interest (and if more than one, the one chosen by lot between or among them) shall act as Operator pro tem, with the right should a similar situation reoccur after a new Operator has been appointed, to require the Non Operator having the next greatest Average Interest to act as Operator pro tem and so on as occasion demands. Notwithstanding the foregoing sentence in the event that an Affiliate of a Party holds an interest with respect to the Agreement Lands, such Parties shall be deemed to be one Party for the purpose of this Subclause B, and the Average Interests of such Parties shall be deemed to be held by the one of them which has the greatest Average Interest.

C Restriction On Appointment

No provision of this Clause 5 04 shall serve to reappoint as the successor Operator a Party which has been replaced pursuant to Subclause 5 02A (Immediate Replacement Of Operator) or Subparagraph 5 02B(a)(ii) (Delayed Replacement Of Operator) except with the consent of the Parties

D Transfer Of Property

At the effective date of the resignation or replacement of the Operator, the outgoing Operator shall deliver to the successor Operator possession of the Joint Property, the books and records kept for the Joint Account and all documents, agreements and other papers relating thereto. However, such delivery of Joint Property shall not apply insofar as it pertains to any well to which paragraph 5 02B(b) (Delayed Replacement of Operator) applies, until the Abandonment or Suspension of such well and any wells in respect of which such successor Operator is not entitled to information, which shall be operated by a Party determined pursuant to this Clause 5 04 until such successor Operator becomes entitled to such information

29 Clause 5 04

E. Release Of Former Operator

Upon compliance with the obligations described in Subclause D of this Clause 5 04 the outgoing Operator shall be released and discharged from and the successor Operator shall assume, all duties and obligations of the Operator Notwithstanding such release or discharge however such outgoing Operator shall continue to remain responsible for the unsatisfied duties and obligations which had accrued to it prior to the effective date of the change of Operatorship, insofar as such outgoing Operator remains reasonably able to fulfill such obligations following the transfer of the Joint Property

F Audit

Within sixty (60) days after the successor Operator has obtained possession of the Joint Property from the outgoing Operator hereunder, an audit shall be made of the books of account and records of the Joint Account and an inventory shall be taken. The cost of such audit and inventory shall be for the Joint Account

5 05 Assignment Of Operatorship

Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 20 00 (Disposition Of Interests), in the event the Operator wishes to assign the Operatorship to its assignee after having disposed of all or a portion of its interest in the Agreement Lands pursuant to that Article, such assignee shall not assume the Operatorship unless and until the Management Committee approves such assignment of Operatorship Should the Operatorship be so assigned, the two (2) year time periods described in this Article 5 00 shall be calculated as if the aforementioned assignment had not occurred

600 FUNCTIONS AND DUTIES OF OPERATOR

601 Control And Management Of Operations

A. General

Subject to the provisions of this Operating Procedure and the supervision and control of the Management Committee, the Operator is delegated the control and management of the Joint Property and all operations and other activities conducted hereunder, with full power and authority to take whatever action may be necessary and to make such expenditures as may be authorized to conduct operations and activities pursuant to the provisions hereof

B Expenditure Limitations

(a) The Operator may, without approval of the Non Operators charge to the Joint Account

- 1) the actual cost to the Operator of any single undertaking (other than the conduct of any drilling, geological, geophysical or geochemical operation or any engineering environmental or socioeconomic study) in accordance with this Operating Procedure provided the estimated cost of such undertaking does not exceed \$______000 and
- ii) the actual cost to the Operator of settling any Third Person damage claim resulting from Joint Operations if such claim is not covered by policies of insurance maintained for the Joint Account or is under the deductible limit thereof provided such cost does not exceed \$______000
- (b) The Operator shall not charge to the Joint Account any costs or expenses in excess of the amounts specified in paragraph (a) of this Subclause B unless
 - 1) the Parties satisfying the applicable approval thresholds prescribed by Article 400 (Management Committee) have given their prior consent to such a charge in the form of an approved A.F.E., in which case the Operator may charge to the Joint Account costs and expenses that do not exceed the total amount specified in such A.F.E. plus ten percent (10%) of the amount so specified therein subject to the proviso in paragraph G(a) of this Clause 601, or
 - ii) the Operator reasonably determines that an emergency exists, in which case the Operator may charge to the Joint Account, without the Parties prior approval such costs and expenses as the Operator reasonably determines are necessary and proper for the protection of life or property provided, however that the Operator shall immediately notify the Parties of the details of such emergency and such costs and expenses, or
 - the Operator is required to conduct an operation respecting the Agreement Lands by the Regulations where failure to conduct such operation would be inconsistent with good oil field practice or could result in the prosecution of the Operator thereunder, in which case the Operator shall conduct such operation for the Joint Account unless the Parties make arrangements whereby such operation shall be conducted other than for the Joint Account or
 - iv) the Parties have given their prior consent to such a charge in the form of an approved Supplementary A.F.E., in which case the Operator may charge to the Joint Account costs and expenses that do not exceed the amount specified in such Supplementary A.F.E.

C AFE's And Supplementary AFE's To Be In Sufficient Detail

Every A.F.E. and Supplementary A.F.E shall describe the undertaking relating thereto and the estimated cost thereof in sufficient detail to enable the Party receiving such A.F.E or Supplementary A.F.E to appreciate the nature and scope of such undertaking and the estimated costs of its various phases

D Approval Of An A.F.E.

A Party shall be deemed to have elected not to approve an A.F.E. if within thirty (30) days of the receipt thereof it has not signed and returned a copy of such A.F.E. to the Operator or provided the Operator with a notice that it approves such A.F.E. subject to Article 400 (Management Committee) and paragraph 903B(b) (Reply To Independent Operation Notice)

E Supplementary A.F.E. s General

Subject to subparagraphs B(b)(11) and B(b)(111) and paragraph G(a) of this Clause 6.01

- (a) when it becomes apparent to the Operator that the cost of an undertaking described in this Clause 601 is reasonably anticipated to exceed by more than ten percent (10%) the expenditure level specified in the A.F.E relating to such undertaking a Supplementary A.F.E shall be forwarded forthwith by the Operator to the Non Operators together with the Operator's explanation for such anticipated overexpenditure and
- (b) the Operator shall not charge to the Joint Account the costs specified in a Supplementary A.F.E. relating to an undertaking unless and until the Parties have approved such Supplementary A.F.E. and the Operator shall not charge to the Joint Account any costs in excess of those specified in such Supplementary A.F.E. unless and until the Parties have approved a subsequent Supplementary A.F.E. pursuant to this Clause 6.01

F Non Drilling Supplementary A.F.E.s. Referred To Management Committee

Subject to subparagraphs B(b)(11) and B(b)(111) of this Clause 601 and insofar as a Supple mentary A.F.E is not with respect to the drilling of a well the approval of such Supplementary A.F.E shall be a determination of the Management Committee. The Operator may refer such Supplementary A.F.E to the Non Operators for determination pursuant to Subclause 403C (Mail Ballots) provided that the time period within which the Non Operators shall respond pursuant thereto shall be reduced to five (5) days from the receipt of such notice Notwithstanding the foregoing sentence, a Non Operator may within three (3) days of the

receipt of such notice, request that the Operator convene a meeting of the Management Committee to discuss such Supplementary A.F.E., in which case the Operator shall convene a meeting of the Management Committee forthwith.

G Approval Mechanism For Supplementary A.F.E.'s Drilling

- (a) Subject to subparagraphs B(b)(11) and B(b)(111) of this Clause 6.01 and insofar as a Supplementary AFE is with respect to the drilling (but not the testing) of a well the approval of such Supplementary AFE shall be pursuant to the provisions of this Subclause G provided that the estimated or actual costs as the case may be, of testing such well shall not be considered when calculating the ten percent (10%) threshold prescribed by subparagraph B(b)(1) of this Clause 6.01
- (b) In the event the Operator forwards such a Supplementary A.F.E. to the Non Operators it shall provide therewith its description of the forfeiture of interest attributable to an election not to approve such Supplementary AFE if such well were to be continued by less than all of the Parties such description including the Operator's best estimate of the point at which the amount described in paragraph (a) of this Subclause G will be expended Within five (5) days (excepting Saturdays Sundays and statutory holidays in either the Province of Alberta or Canada) following the receipt of such Supplementary A.F.E. and such description, each Non Operator shall sign and return such Supplementary A.F.E. to the Operator, otherwise advise the Operator by notice that it approves such Supplementary A.F.E. or advise the Operator by notice that it will not approve such Supplementary AFE and that it elects not to participate in such well beyond the amount specified in the initial A.F.E. (insofar as such amount does not pertain to the estimated or actual cost of testing such well), plus the additional amounts provided for in subpara graphs B(b)(1), (11) and (111) of this Clause 601 Failure of a Non Operator to reply to the Operator within the aforesaid five (5) day period shall be deemed to be such Party's approval of such Supplementary A.F.E.
- (c) Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 9 00 (Independent Operations), in the event that less than all of the Parties approve such a Supplementary A.F.E. those Parties approving such Supplementary A.F.E. shall have the right for two (2) days following the aforesaid five (5) day period in which to elect to continue drilling the well to which such Supplementary A.F.E. relates Paragraph 9 03C(b) and (c) (Determination Of Participating Interests) shall apply mutatis mutandis to such election, and Subclause 9 05C (Penalty For Independent Deepening) shall apply mutatis mutandis if such Parties elect to continue drilling such well, as if such Supplementary A.F.E. related to the independent Deepening of a well

(d) Subject to Subclause 908G (Allocation Of Well Costs When Participation In Well Differs), a Party rejecting such a Supplementary A.F.E. shall not be responsible for additional Well Costs incurred after the expenditure of the amount approved in the A.F.E. respecting such well (insofar as such amount does not pertain to the estimated or actual cost of testing such well) and the additional amounts provided for in subparagraphs B(b)(1), (11) and (111) of this Clause 601 Notwithstanding the foregoing sentence, such Party shall remain responsible for its Working Interest share of the cost of any testing program which is conducted pursuant to the direction of the Management Committee with respect to that portion of such well which had been drilled for the Joint Account

6 02 Operations Conducted In Proper Manner

The Operator shall conduct all Joint Operations diligently in a good and workmanlike manner, in accordance with good oil field practice and in compliance with the Documents of Title and the Regulations Insofar as the Operator hires contractors to conduct any part of a Joint Operation the Operator shall supervise such contractors to the extent reasonably necessary to ensure that such contractors conduct their work in the same manner provided that the Operator's responsibility for such supervision shall be governed by the provisions of Article 7 00 (Indemnity And Liability Of Operator)

603 Books And Records

The Operator shall, with respect to all Joint Operations, keep and maintain in Canada true and correct books records and accounts showing credits and charges for the Joint Account, evidence of all payment of claims and accounts and Joint Operations conducted. The Operator shall, upon request of a Non Operator, permit each Non Operator during normal business hours to inspect such books, records and accounts in either the Operator's office in Calgary or its field office serving the Agreement Lands and to make extracts or copies therefrom and thereof and to audit the Operator's accounts and records as provided in the Accounting Procedure

604 Protection From Liens

The Operator shall pay, or cause to be paid, as they become due and payable all accounts of contractors and claims for wages and salaries for services rendered or performed and for materials supplied with respect to the Agreement Lands or any Joint Operations. The Operator shall keep the Agreement Lands free from liens and encumbrances resulting therefrom unless there be a bona fide dispute with respect thereto.

605 Non Operator's Rights Of Access

The Operator shall permit the duly authorized representatives of a Non Operator full and free access to the Joint Property (including a Drilling Unit) for the observation of Joint Operations at such Non Operator's sole risk cost and expense provided that the Operator has received reasonable notice of such Non Operator's intention that such representatives are in reasonable numbers and that with respect to access to a Drilling Unit the Operator is satisfied that there will be adequate accommodation for such representatives

606 Maintenance Of Documents Of Title

A. Maintenance

Except as otherwise provided in this Operating Procedure the Operator shall on behalf of the Parties and for the Joint Account maintain the Documents of Title in good standing pursuant to the terms thereof or the Regulations through

- (a) the submission of required rentals deposits, promissory notes and similar forms of financial responsibility to governmental authorities provided that the Operator may secure each Party's Working Interest share of such financial responsibility in such manner as may be approved pursuant to the Accounting Procedure, and
- (b) the performance of all other acts reasonably necessary to maintain the Documents of Title in good standing and in full force and effect provided that, subject to subparagraph 601B(b)(iii) (Expenditure Limitations), nothing in this paragraph (b) shall be construed to require or permit the Operator to conduct any Joint Operation which requires the prior approval of the Parties or the Management Committee without such approval being first had and obtained

B Recovery Of Deposits Promissory Notes And Similar Instruments

Whenever sufficient operations have been conducted with respect to the Agreement Lands to enable the Operator to recover rentals deposits, promissory notes or like instruments from governmental authorities, the Operator shall promptly make application for recovery of such instruments unless otherwise agreed by the Parties Upon recovery of such rentals deposits promissory notes or like instruments and to the extent that a refund or other return is applicable to the type of security, the Operator shall promptly return any of such rentals deposits promissory notes or like instruments to those of the Parties which had contributed the same to the Operator including any Party which had surrendered its Working Interest in a portion of the Agreement Lands after making such contribution

607 Operator As Representative Of The Parties

A. Operator To Act As Representative

The Operator shall be the representative of the Parties with respect to the Agreement Lands insofar as a representative is required by the Regulations

B Representative Acts Pursuant To Directions Of Management Committee

The Operator shall consult with the Management Committee on a timely basis with respect to activities prescribed by its role as the representative of the Parties, including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the negotiation of Documents of Title or amendments thereto the application for a declaration of significant discovery or a declaration of commer cial discovery and the submission of a development plan. The Operator shall use its best efforts to conduct such negotiations or other activities pursuant to the directions of the Management Committee and shall report the status of such negotiations or other activities to the Management Committee in a timely manner

C Non Operators To Have Opportunity To Observe Negotiations

Insofar as negotiations, hearings, representations or notices are with respect to the Agreement Lands the Operator shall, as far in advance as is practicable, inform the Non Operators of the time and place of any negotiations or hearings it proposes or is required to attend or any representations it proposes to make to governmental authorities, so as to provide representatives of the Non Operators with a reasonable opportunity to observe (but not participate in) such negotiations or hearings or comment on such representations, as the case may be and the Operator shall forward to the Non Operators in a timely manner any written correspond ence pertaining thereto which it receives from governmental authorities. The Operator shall have the right, by notice to the Non Operators to restrict attendance at such negotiations or hearings to a single representative of each Non Operator

608 Operator To Apply To Environmental Studies Research Fund

The Operator shall apply for funding from the Environmental Studies Research Fund when a study which, in the Operator's reasonable opinion, could be eligible for such payments has been approved to be conducted for the Joint Account and any such payments shall be received by the Operator for the Joint Account

609 Insurance

A. Operator To Comply With Legislation Respecting Employees

The Operator shall in conducting Joint Operations, comply with the requirements of all Unemployment Insurance, Canada Pension Workers Compensation and Occupational Health and Safety legislation and all other similar Regulations applicable to workers employed for the Joint Account, and the Operator shall not suffer any bona fide claims or dues payable pursuant to such Regulations to become in arrears

B Policies To Be Obtained For The Joint Account

The Operator shall prior to the commencement of Joint Operations hold or cause to be held with a reputable insurance company or companies and thereafter maintain or cause to be maintained for the Joint Account and for the benefit of the Parties and their respective Affiliates directors, servants agents and employees the policies of insurance which are described in Schedule "C in such amounts as are stated therein or as may be designated from time to time by the Management Committee, as the case may be In the event that the policies which the Operator is required to obtain or maintain are in the Operator's opinion unavailable or available only at an unreasonable cost, the Operator shall promptly notify the Non-Operators in order that the Management Committee may redetermine the policies which shall be obtained for the Joint Account. Subject to Subclauses C and H of this Clause 609 policies obtained pursuant to this Subclause may contain terms conditions or exclusions affecting or limiting the risks covered thereby or the circumstances under which the insurer may be required to indemnify or compensate the Parties thereunder, provided such terms. conditions or exclusions are in the Operator's reasonable opinion, the best available from the marketplace on reasonable terms and ordinary or appropriate However the Operator shall obtain the prior consent of the Management Committee with respect to any such change which is made after the relevant policy has been acquired for the Joint Account

C Deductibles

The deductible amount respecting any insurance policy maintained for the Joint Account shall not exceed \$______000 unless such other deductible amount has been agreed to by the Management Committee

D Losses Initially Charged To The Joint Account

In the event the Operator makes any payments with respect to any losses damages claims or liabilities arising out of Joint Operations and covered by insurance policies maintained pursuant to Subclause B of this Clause 6 09 with the approval of the insurers thereof or the Operator

makes any payments authorized hereunder with respect to any other losses, damages, claims or liabilities arising out of Joint Operations, the Operator shall be entitled to charge such payments to the Joint Account. However, the Operator shall diligently attempt to process its claims under such policies with respect to such losses, damages, claims or liabilities and shall promptly credit the Joint Account the amount it ultimately recovers under such policies Insofar as paragraph 7 01(a) or (b) (Limit Of Legal Responsibility) is applicable, the Operator shall adjust the accounts of the Parties accordingly at such time as it is determined that such paragraph is applicable

E Regulatory Indemnities

The Operator shall, for the Joint Account obtain and maintain all insurance, indemnities and other forms of financial responsibility required by the Regulations with respect to Joint Operations. However insofar as such requirements pertain to the purchase of Operator's extra expense or seepage and pollution insurance, such requirement shall be reviewed by the Management Committee to determine either the manner in which such requirements shall be satisfied or the representations to be made to governmental authorities with respect thereto by the Operator pursuant to Clause 6 07 (Operator As Representative Of The Parties)

F Contractors

- (a) The Operator shall use reasonable efforts to ensure its contractors and subcontractors if any
 - comply with Unemployment Insurance, Canada Pension, Workers Compensation and Occupational Health and Safety legislation and all other similar Regulations applicable to workers employed by them with respect to Joint Operations and
 - uth respect to Joint Operations, provided that such insurance policies shall include waivers of all rights, by subrogation or otherwise, against the Parties and their respective Affiliates, directors, servants agents and employees and that the Operator shall require such contractors and subcontractors to provide the Operator with certificates reflecting such insurance prior to the commencement of their services hereunder
- (b) Where applicable the Operator shall use reasonable efforts to ensure that marine Drilling Units and work boats used in Joint Operations are insured by the owners of such vessels on a full form (hull tackle and machinery) or on an all risks form, that adequate protection and indemnity, collision and tower's liability insurance is maintained by such

owners and that such insurance policies include waivers of all rights, by subrogation or otherwise, against the Parties and their respective Affiliates, directors, servants agents and employees

38

G Parties Responsible For Physical Damage To Property

Each Party shall be responsible for insuring its own interest in the Agreement Lands with respect to physical damage to property (whether onshore, offshore or in transit), loss of income, control of well, seepage and pollution and for any insurance other than that referred to in this Clause 6.09. However, the Management Committee may require a Party to maintain policies of such insurance, other than loss of income insurance in such types and minimum amounts as the Management Committee may reasonably designate, having due regard to the types and amounts of insurance maintained by similar companies in areas with operating conditions similar to those of the Agreement Lands

H Subrogation And Other Required Provisions

- (a) The Operator shall ensure that each insurance policy maintained for the Joint Account pursuant to this Clause 6 09 includes waivers of all rights, by subrogation or otherwise against the Parties and their respective Affiliates, directors, servants agents and employ ees Each Party shall ensure that the insurance policies described in Subclause G or J of this Clause 6 09 that are maintained by such Party shall contain such waivers
- (b) The Operator shall use all reasonable efforts to ensure that each insurance policy maintained for the Joint Account pursuant to this Clause 6.09 includes (i) a provision that coverage is primary to any other coverage carried by the Parties, other than coverage maintained by a Party to reduce its exposure to a deductible (ii) a provision that such policy shall survive the default or bankruptcy of the insured for claims arising out of an event before such default or bankruptcy, and (iii) a provision that the insurer shall provide the Operator with sixty (60) days written notice of cancellation of such policy

I Evidence Of Compliance

- (a) If requested by a Party, the Operator shall furnish to the Management Committee a photocopy of each policy of insurance the Operator maintains for the Joint Account or insofar as insurance maintained for the Joint Account is part of a policy of insurance which is not entirely maintained for the Joint Account, such other documentary evidence of compliance with the provisions of this Clause 6 09 as may be reasonably appropriate
- (b) If requested by another Party a Party shall furnish to the Management Committee such documentary evidence of compliance with the provisions of this Clause 6 09 as may be

reasonably appropriate with respect to each policy of insurance such Party maintains for its own account pursuant to Subclause G or J of this Clause 609

J Independent Operations

Unless otherwise agreed by the Parties, each Party which carries on any operation on its own behalf pursuant to this Operating Procedure shall maintain at its own expense, insurance with limits not less than those prescribed in Schedule C" and if applicable to such Party Subclause G of this Clause 6 09

6 10 Forecasts

A. Operator To Prepare Forecast

Not later than ninety (90) days before the beginning of the succeeding Forecast Period, the Operator shall prepare and submit to the Management Committee a Forecast with respect to such Forecast Period

B Forecast To Be Itemized

The Forecast shall be grouped by major divisions and itemized in reasonable detail within such major divisions. Each Forecast shall contain such justifications and explanations as are reasonably necessary for understanding the recommendations made therein

C Non Operator May Make Recommendations

A Non Operator may submit its own recommendations regarding the Forecast to each Party not later than one hundred and fifty (150) days before the beginning of the succeeding Forecast Period Such recommendations shall be supported by such explanations as are reasonably necessary for understanding such recommendations

D Forecast Subject To Revision

The Forecast may be approved in whole or in part by the Management Committee

E Forecasts Are Informational

Notwithstanding the approval of a Forecast by the Management Committee, Forecasts shall be for informational purposes only, and they shall not commit the Parties to make the expenditures described therein

6 11 Taxes

Except as otherwise provided in this Operating Procedure, the Operator shall pay, for the Joint Account, all taxes levied with respect to the Joint Property, except income taxes and other levies assessed against the Parties individually. The Operator shall promptly forward to a Party a copy of any tax notice it receives respecting such Party's interest in the Joint Property to the extent that such tax is one for which payment is not the responsibility of the Operator

6 12 Contracts

A. Contracts Awarded On A Prudent And Competitive Basis

- (a) The Operator shall use reasonable efforts in soliciting bids for the supply of goods and services from reliable contractors with respect to Joint Operations Contracts for the supply of such goods and services shall be awarded on a prudent and competitive basis
- (b) Notwithstanding paragraph (a) of this Subclause A, the Operator shall not be required to obtain competitive bids hereunder where competitive bidding is not warranted having regard to the size or nature of the contract or the timing constraints imposed by operational necessity However in the event that the Operator enters into any such contract with a Third Person which is not an Affiliate of the Operator, the Operator shall promptly advise the Non Operators of its reasons for entering into such contract when such contract entails an expenditure for the Joint Account of greater than \$ and less than \$_____ 000 and if such contract would entail an expenditure for the Joint Account of greater than the latter amount, the Operator shall obtain Management Committee approval of the lack of a competitive bid before entering into such contract In the event that in conducting Joint Operations the Operator proposes to supply its own goods or services or to enter into a contract with an Affiliate with respect to the supply of goods or services the Operator shall (specify whether * or ** applies the approval of the Management Committee before supplying such goods or services or entering into such contract, as the case may be, if the value of such transaction would ______000) ___ **supply such goods and services or contract for them at prices and rates available commercially from Third Persons for the supply of similar goods or services on similar terms and conditions, and, when such goods and services are not so available commercially from Third Persons, at prices and rates which are fair and reasonable in the circumstances, provided that the Operator shall advise the Non-Operators of all such transactions with a value exceeding \$ 000 and the material terms thereof as they are made. The provisions of this paragraph (b) however, are at all times subject to the financial restrictions prescribed by Subclause 601B (Expenditure Limitations)

B Non Operator's Right Of Access

A Non Operator shall have the right, upon reasonable notice to the Operator, to examine contracts for the supply of goods and services which were entered into by the Operator for the Joint Account

41

C Assignability

The Operator shall diligently attempt to ensure that each contract for the supply of goods and services for the Joint Account can be freely assigned to any of the Parties in the event of the resignation or the replacement of the Operator, provided that all such contracts shall provide that the Parties are not jointly and severally bound thereunder

6 13 Application For Patents

If patentable processes procedures or equipment arise out of Joint Operations the Operator shall apply for patents therefor pursuant to the instructions of the Management Committee

6 14 Obligation To Advise Parties Of Errors And Omissions

The Operator shall promptly notify each Non Operator upon discovery of either any errors in financial reports or billings made by it hereunder or any failure on its part to comply with the Regulations applicable to the performance of its obligations herein. Such notification shall state the nature of the Operator's error or omission and the corrective measures taken by the Operator following such discovery.

6 15 Acquisition Of Necessary Rights

The Operator shall acquire and maintain for the Joint Account all necessary licenses, permits approvals or other rights of a similar nature required by the Regulations for the conduct of Joint Operations

6 16 Operator To Hold Joint Property In Trust

Insofar as the Parties do not hold title to the Joint Property in their own names, the Operator shall hold the Joint Property in trust on behalf of the Parties subject to the provisions of Clause 8 07 (Commingling Of Funds) and the other modifications to the ownership of the Joint Property prescribed herein

617 Submission Of Information To Parties

A. Operator To Supply Non Operators With Data Described In Schedule "D"

The Operator shall supply each Non Operator with the information described in Schedule D with respect to each well drilled for the Joint Account

B Velocity Surveys

Provided hole conditions permit velocity check shot surveys shall be conducted for the Joint Account by the Operator in each well drilled for the Joint Account unless the Parties otherwise agree The Operator shall supply each Non Operator with a copy of each such survey in a timely manner

C Daily Estimate Of Well Costs

The Operator shall provide each Non Operator with a daily estimate of the cumulative Well Costs with respect to any well being drilled for the Joint Account

D Geophysical Data To Be Forwarded On A Current Basis

The Operator shall provide each Non Operator on a current basis with a copy of all shot point maps and a mylar copy of all record sections from geophysical programs conducted for the Joint Account The Operator shall provide a Non Operator which so requests with basic field data and information respecting such geophysical programs in a timely manner provided that the reproduction of such requested basic data and information shall be at the expense of such Non Operator

E Studies

The Operator shall provide each Non Operator with a copy of all relevant data information and records obtained from all environmental, socioeconomic and engineering studies conducted for the Joint Account in a timely manner provided such data can be easily reproduced. In cases where such data cannot be easily reproduced the Non Operators shall be provided with access to such data in either the Operator's Calgary office or its field office serving the Agreement Lands

F Submission Of Reports And Data To Governmental Agencies

The Operator shall submit all reports and data respecting Joint Operations to the relevant governmental authorities to the extent that the Regulations require such submission. Such information shall be submitted to such governmental authorities in such a manner so as to ensure that insofar as is permitted by the Regulations such information shall be held confidential by such governmental authorities.

43

G Proprietary Information

Notwithstanding any other provision contained in this Operating Procedure all data information and records that the Operator is required to supply to a Non Operator pursuant to this Operating Procedure shall exclude data processing techniques, velocity analyses any paleontological analyses and all other interpreted data, unless and to the extent that such data processing techniques, velocity analyses paleontological analyses and interpretations had been derived or conducted for the Joint Account

H Information Supplied To Designated Personnel

The Operator shall supply all information which it is required to supply to a Non Operator hereunder to the personnel designated by such Non Operator by written notice to the Operator Such notice shall include office and home addresses and telephone numbers of the personnel so designated.

6 18 Rights Of Operator

A. Operator To Retain Rights And Obligations

The Operator shall have all the rights and obligations of a Non Operator with respect to its Working Interest, Average Document Interest, Average Interest or Operation Working Interest, as the case may be

B Independent Status Of Operator

The Operator is an independent contractor in the conduct of operations hereunder. The Operator shall furnish or cause to be furnished all material labour and services necessary for the conduct of Joint Operations. The Operator shall determine the number and selection of personnel, their hours of labour and the compensation they are to receive for their services in connection with Joint Operations. All personnel and contractors employed in Joint Operations shall be deemed to be the employees or the contractors of the Operator, as the case may be. The Operator shall have the right to assign and retain such technical,

administrative and supervisory personnel and consultants as may be necessary for the conduct of Joint Operations, subject to the provisions of the Accounting Procedure

44

700 INDEMNITY AND LIABILITY OF OPERATOR

701 <u>Limit Of Legal Responsibility</u>

Notwithstanding Clause 6 02 (Operations Conducted In Proper Manner), the Operator, its Affiliates, directors servants agents and employees shall not be liable to the Non Operators, or any of them for any loss expense, injury, death or damage whether contractual or tortious suffered or incurred by the Non Operators resulting from or in any way attributable to or arising out of any act or omission whether negligent or otherwise of the Operator or its Affiliates directors servants, agents or employees in conducting or carrying out Joint Operations, except

- (a) when and to the extent that such loss, expense, injury death or damage relates to a risk or risks against which the Operator is required to carry insurance for the Joint Account as provided in Clause 609 (Insurance) and is within the limits of such required insurance in which case the Operator shall
 - (1) be solely hable for such loss, expense, injury death or damage, and
 - (11) indemnify and save harmless each Non Operator and its Affiliates directors servants agents and employees from and against the same and also from and against all actions causes of action, suits, claims and demands by any person or persons whomsoever in respect of any such loss expense, injury, death or damage, and any costs and expenses relating thereto,

provided that if the Operator had maintained insurance covering such loss, expense, injury, death or damage, the Operator shall be released from the responsibility and indemnity imposed by this paragraph (a) to the extent that

- (1) the insurer thereunder is financially unable to pay all or any portion of a valid claim with respect to such loss, expense, injury death or damage,
- (11) such insurer is determined by a court of competent jurisdiction not to be required to make payment with respect to such loss, expense, injury death or damage under such policy of insurance where either the Management Committee instructed the Operator to commence an action with respect thereto pursuant to Clause 12 01 (Conduct Of Litigation) or the Operator commenced such an action for its own account, or

- (iii) the Management Committee determines, pursuant to Clause 1201, that the Operator is not to commence an action for the Joint Account against such insurer with respect to such loss, expense, injury, death or damage, and
- (b) when and to the extent that such loss, expense, injury death or damage is a direct result of or is directly attributable to the Gross Negligence of the Operator or its Affiliates directors servants, agents or employees, in which case the Operator shall

45

- (1) be solely liable for such loss, expense injury, death or damage, and
- (11) indemnify and save harmless each Non Operator and its Affiliates, directors servants agents and employees from and against the same and also from and against all actions, causes of action, suits, claims and demands by any person or persons whomsoever in respect of any such loss, expense, injury death or damage, and any costs and expenses relating thereto,

provided that an act or omission of the Operator or its Affiliates directors, servants, agents or employees shall not of itself, be deemed to be Gross Negligence if such act or omission was done or was omitted to be done in accordance with the instructions of or with the concurrence of the Management Committee or the Non Operators

However, in no event shall the responsibility prescribed by paragraph (a) or (b) of this Clause 7 01 extend to losses suffered by the Non Operators respecting the loss or delay of future production attributable to reservoir damage including, without restricting the generality of the foregoing, loss of profits

7 02 <u>Indemnification Of Operator</u>

Except as otherwise provided in Clause 701 (Limit Of Legal Responsibility) the Parties hereby indemnify and save harmless the Operator, its Affiliates, directors, servants agents and employees from and against any and all actions, causes of action, suits claims, demands, costs, losses and expenses resulting from loss, injury, death or damage respecting any person, which may be brought against or incurred or suffered by the Operator, its Affiliates, directors, servants, agents and employees or which the Operator, its Affiliates, directors, servants, agents and employees may sustain, pay or incur by reason of, or which may be attributable to or arise out of, any act or omission of the Operator or its Affiliates directors, servants, agents or employees in conducting Joint Operations. All such liabilities shall be for the Joint Account and shall be borne by the Parties in the proportions of their respective Working Interests.

46 Clause 7 03

7 03 Related Parties To Be Indemnified

The Operator and the Non Operators hereby indemnify and save harmless each Related Party, its Affiliates, directors, servants, agents and employees from and against any and all actions, suits claims, demands costs losses, expenses and damages of any person whomsoever which may be brought against or incurred or suffered by such Related Party, its Affiliates, directors servants, agents and employees or which such Related Party, its Affiliates directors servants agents and employees may sustain, pay or incur by reason of or which may be attributable to or arise out of any act or omission of the Operator its Affiliates, directors servants agents or employees in conducting Joint Operations

800 JOINT COSTS AND EXPENSES

801 Accounting Procedure As Basis

All charges and credits for the Joint Account shall be made in accordance with the Accounting Procedure. However the accounting and financial records maintained by the Operator with respect to the operations conducted by it hereunder shall be maintained separately from those kept by it with respect to operations conducted under other agreements, in accordance with established industry accounting practice.

8 02 Operator To Pay And Recover From Parties

Subject to the provisions of Clause 8 03 (Advance Of Funds) and the Accounting Procedure the Operator shall initially advance and pay all expenditures of whatsoever nature and kind incurred in Joint Operations. The Operator shall charge to each Non Operator its Working Interest share of such expenditures and each Non Operator shall pay the same to the Operator as provided in the Accounting Procedure.

8 03 Advance Of Funds

A. General

The Operator may, at its election, require each Non Operator to advance its Working Interest share of all expenditures that the Operator reasonably estimates will be paid in the ensuing calendar month for the Joint Account in accordance with the Accounting Procedure

47 Clause 8 03

B Emergency Situation

Notwithstanding Subclause A of this Clause 8 03, in the event that the Operator is required to make expenditures pursuant to subparagraph 6 01B(b)(ii) (Expenditure Limitations), the Operator may by notice require each Non Operator to advance its Working Interest share of the Operator's estimate of such expenditures within ten (10) days of the Non Operator's receipt of such request insofar only as the Operator is unable to comply with Subclause A of this Clause 8 03 with respect to such expenditures

8 04 Operator's Lien

A. Operator To Have Lien On Joint Property

As of the effective date of the Agreement the Operator shall have a first and prior lien on all rights and interests of each Party in the Joint Property to secure payment of such Party's Working Interest share of expenses and expenditures incurred for the Joint Account A Party shall ensure that any security interest it gives with respect to its interest in the Joint Property includes a provision whereby such security interest is subject to the prior claim of the Operator for repayment of such Party's share of expenses and expenditures incurred for the Joint Account.

B Operator's Rights

If a Party fails to pay or advance any of the monies to be paid or advanced by it hereunder, the Operator may i) charge interest as prescribed in the Accounting Procedure regardless of whether the Operator has notified the defaulting Party in advance of its intention to charge such defaulting Party interest with respect to the amount unpaid by such defaulting Party, and ii) withhold from such defaulting Party any further information and privileges with respect to Joint Operations, which information and privileges shall be conveyed or restored, as the case may be, to such defaulting Party upon such default being fully rectified. If the default continues for thirty (30) days after the Operator has served notice upon such Party specifying the default and requiring the same to be remedied, the Operator may, without limiting the Operator's other rights in this Operating Procedure, at law or in equity

- (a) set-off against the amount unpaid by such defaulting Party, any sums due or accruing to such defaulting Party from the Operator pursuant to this Operating Procedure or any other agreement between the Operator and such defaulting Party, whether executed before or after the effective date of the Agreement,
- (b) maintain an action or actions for such unpaid amounts and interest thereon on a continuing basis as such amounts are payable but not paid by such defaulting Party, as if

the obligation to pay such amounts and the interest thereon were liquidated demands due and payable on the relevant date such amounts were due to be paid, without any right or resort of such defaulting Party to set-off or counter-claim, and

(c) provided such default has continued for at least sixty (60) days following such notice, enforce the lien applicable to such default pursuant to Subclause A of this Clause 8 04 by taking possession of or using free of charge all or any part of the interest of such defaulting Party in the Joint Property and all rights powers and privileges of such defaulting Party in connection with such interest until such default is fully rectified Subject to the approval of the Management Committee and such conditions as it may prescribe which do not conflict with the provisions of this paragraph (c) the Operator may sell and dispose of any such Joint Property of which it has so taken possession, either in whole or in part, at public auction or by private tender at a time and on whatever terms it shall arrange, having first given at least ten (10) days prior written notice to such defaulting Party of the time and place of such sale, provided that the Operator may only sell such interest in the Joint Property to such person or persons for such price and on such conditions as the Operator determines are the best reasonable terms available in relation to such defaulting Party's possible recovery of funds in excess of the amount owed by it hereunder Such sale or other realization shall be without prejudice to the Operator's claim for deficiency and shall be free from any right of redemption on the part of such defaulting Party (which right is hereby waived and released), and such defaulting Party also waives all formalities prescribed by custom or by law with respect to such sale or other realization The proceeds of such sale shall be first applied by the Operator in payment of any amount required to be paid by such defaulting Party and not paid by such Party hereunder (including any interest which has accrued hereunder with respect thereto) and any balance remaining thereafter shall be paid to such defaulting Party after deducting reasonable costs of such sale Any sale made as aforesaid shall be a perpetual bar both at law and in equity against such defaulting Party and its assigns and against all other persons claiming an interest in such Joint Property or any part or parcel thereof sold as aforesaid by, from, through or under such defaulting Party or its assigns

C Interest Shall Not Merge With Judgement

The obligation to pay interest at the rate specified in the Accounting Procedure with respect to a default is to apply until such default is rectified and shall not merge into a judgement for principal and interest, or either of them. The Parties waive the application of any Regula tions to the contrary, insofar as such waiver is permitted by the Regulations.

49 Clause 8 04

D Books And Records Constitute Proof Of Default

Books and records kept by the Operator with respect to the Joint Account shall constitute conclusive proof of the existence of any financial default hereunder, subject, however, to the rights of inspection and audit provided for elsewhere in this Operating Procedure

805 Reimbursement Of Operator

If the Operator has not received full payment of any amount to be paid to it by a Party with respect to such Party's Working Interest share of the expenditures incurred in Joint Operations within sixty (60) calendar days following the date such payment was due, each Party, upon being billed therefor by the Operator, shall forthwith contribute a fraction of the unpaid amount excluding interest thereon, which fraction shall have

- (a) as its numerator the Working Interest of such Party, and
- (b) as its denominator the aggregate Working Interests of all Parties except such defaulting Party

Thereupon, each such contributor shall be proportionately subrogated to the Operator's rights pursuant to Clause 8 04 (Operator's Lien) and to the interest thereafter payable pursuant to the Accounting Procedure on the unrecovered portion of its contribution made pursuant to this Clause 8 05

806 Default Of Operator

In the event the Operator is the Party which defaults in paying its share of any expenditure incurred for the Joint Account, the Non Operators may appoint one of the Parties as representative ad hoc of the Non Operators pending the appointment of a new Operator pursuant to Subclause 5 02A (Immediate Replacement Of Operator) Such Party shall thereupon be entitled to exercise any of the rights and remedies otherwise available to the Operator pursuant to this Operating Procedure mutatis mutandis in order to rectify such default.

8 07 Commingling Of Funds

The Operator may commingle with its own funds the monies which it receives from or for the Joint Account pursuant to this Operating Procedure unless and until it is required by the Management Committee to maintain funds held for the Joint Account in a separate trust account

- 50 - Clause 8 08

808 Charges And Credits Allocated On Basis Of Other Interests

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Article 8.00, in the event that the context requires that charges and credits for the Joint Account shall be shared by the Parties in proportions other than their Working Interests, such charges and credits shall be shared by the Parties in the proportions of their Average Document Interests, Average Interests or Operation Working Interests, as the context may require, subject to the provisions of Article 22 00 (Arbitration)

900 INDEPENDENT OPERATIONS

901 Independent Operations Permitted

A. Party To Propose Operation Initially To Management Committee

A Party which intends to conduct an operation upon or with respect to the Agreement Lands hereunder shall propose to the Management Committee that such operation be conducted for the Joint Account. If the Management Committee reviews such proposal and determines that such operation shall not be conducted for the Joint Account, such Party may propose that such operation be conducted as an Independent Operation pursuant to this Article 900 However, if Parties holding at least the threshold of Working Interests required to approve such operation for the Joint Account pursuant to Subclause 404C (Voting Procedure) elect to participate in such operation such operation shall be conducted as a Joint Operation, as if such matter were a decision of the Management Committee

B Exception To Subclause A

Notwithstanding Subclause A of this Clause 901, if the operation proposed to be conducted for the Joint Account is either

- (a) the Deepening of a well prior to the Rig Release of such well, or
- (b) the drilling of a Delineation Well from a berm or sacrificial island, where such well would be drilled promptly following the Rig Release of another well drilled from such berm or sacrificial island and the Operator had advised the Parties prior to the commencement of such other well that the proposal of such Delineation Well would be contingent upon the data obtained from such other well,
- a Party may propose that such operation be conducted as an Independent Operation through the issuance of an Independent Operation Notice without having first proposed to the Management Committee that such operation be conducted for the Joint Account

9 02 <u>Definitions Article 9 00</u>

In this Article 900 the following definitions shall apply, unless the context otherwise requires

A.	Deline	eation Penalty Area means those Geologic Units in which an Independent Well is a ation Well down to the Stratigraphic Equivalent of the depth penetrated and logged in ell in those Sections described in paragraph [specify (a) or (b)] of this Subclause and
	(a) 1)	the Section which vertically overlays the proposed bottom hole location of such well (as determined by the proposed bottom hole coordinates of such well), and
	u)	those additional Sections of the Agreement Lands, the centre points of which are subject to paragraph 903A(b) (Issuance Of An Independent Operation Notice), situated nearest in distance to such proposed bottom hole location (specify whether * or ** is applicable),*insofar only as such additional Sections have not been included in a Well Block, _/ **excepting therefrom any Section containing the bottom hole location of a well previously drilled by the Parties (or any of them) which had encountered a Potentially Productive Unit, or
	(b) 1)	the Section which vertically overlays the proposed bottom hole location of such well (as determined by the proposed bottom hole coordinates of such well) and
	11)	those additional Sections of the Agreement Lands which overlie any portion of the areal extent of the Prospect being evaluated by such Delineation Well
В	Explora Equiva	ratory Penalty Area means those Geologic Units in which an Independent Well is an atory Well (specify whether * or ** is applicable) *down to the Stratigraphic lent of the depth penetrated and logged in such well _/ **in all Geologic Units in Sections described in paragraph [specify (a) or (b)] of this Subclause B being
	(a) 1)	the Section which vertically overlays the proposed bottom hole location of such well (as determined by the proposed bottom hole coordinates of such well), and
	11)	those additional Sections of the Agreement Lands (specify whether * or ** is applicable) *, the centre points of which are, subject to paragraph 9 03A(b) (Issuance Of An Independent Operation Notice), situated nearest in distance to such proposed bottom hole location, _/_ **which are laterally or diagonally adjacent to such Section and which are specified by the Proposing Party in the Independent Operation Notice respecting such well, provided that such selection shall

be made in such manner as to maximize the number of Sections which overlie the Prospect to be penetrated by such Exploratory Well, or

- (b) 1) the Section which vertically overlays the proposed bottom hole location of such well (as determined by the proposed bottom hole coordinates of such well) and
 - those additional Sections of the Agreement Lands which overlie any portion of the areal extent of the Prospect to be penetrated by such Exploratory Well, or, insofar as such well is an independent Deepening as described in Subclause 9 01B (Exception To Subclause A) or the Proposing Party so elects pursuant to paragraph 9 03A(c) (Issuance Of An Independent Operation Notice), those ______ additional Sections of the Agreement Lands, the centre points of which are subject to paragraph 9 03A(b) situated nearest in distance to such proposed bottom hole location,

Provided that in the event any such Section is included in a Discovery Area at the time of the issuance of the Independent Operation Notice respecting such well only those Geologic Units of such Section deeper than the deepest Potentially Productive Unit contained in such Section may be included in the Exploratory Penalty Area respecting such well

- "Independent Operation means any operation conducted pursuant to this Operating Procedure which is conducted by less than all of the Parties holding Working Interests in that portion of the Agreement Lands upon or with respect to which such operation is being conducted
- D "Independent Operation Notice means a notice of intention to conduct an Independent Operation
- E <u>Independent Well</u> means that well or portion of a well as the case may be, with respect to which an Independent Operation is conducted
- F Non Participant means a Party which does not participate in an Independent Operation and which holds a Working Interest or Operation Working Interest as the case may be in that portion of the Agreement Lands upon or with respect to which such Independent Operation is being conducted
- G Participating Interest means the percentage of participation of a Participant in an Independent Operation, as determined pursuant to this Article 900
- H Participant means a Party participating in an Independent Operation, or, with respect to the period prior to the commencement of an Independent Operation, a Party which has elected to participate in such operation

- 53 Clause 9 02

- I "Proposing Party" means the Party giving an Independent Operation Notice
- J "Receiving Party" means a Party receiving an Independent Operation Notice
- K. "Reversion Date" means that date on which all lands subject to a Document of Title other than those lands included in a Discovery Area, must revert to the grantor of such Document of Title pursuant to the provisions of such Document of Title or the Regulations, or such earlier date as such lands actually revert to such grantor
- L "Stratigraphic Equivalent" means the subsea depths of a Geologic Unit occupying a similar stratigraphic position as determined by lithology, well log characteristics geophysically correlatable events, biostratigraphy or other age dating techniques
- M "Well Block" means with respect to a well previously drilled on the Agreement Lands which has penetrated and logged at least one Potentially Productive Unit, the Section which vertically overlays the bottom hole location of such well (as determined by the bottom hole coordinates of such well) and those additional ______ Sections of the Agreement Lands, the centre points of which are situated nearest in distance to such bottom hole location, subject to paragraph 903A(b) (Issuance Of An Independent Operation Notice) to the base of the deepest Potentially Productive Unit penetrated and logged by such well

903 Proposal Of Independent Operation

A. <u>Issuance Of An Independent Operation Notice</u>

- (a) Subject to Clause 9 01 (Independent Operations Permitted) and Subclause E of this Clause 9 03, a Party may, at any time, give an Independent Operation Notice to the other Parties, stating in such Independent Operation Notice (i) the nature of the proposed Independent Operation, including a drilling prognosis, if applicable, (ii) the proposed location of such operation, (iii) the anticipated time of commencement and estimated duration of such operation, (iv) the Drilling Unit to be utilized in conducting such operation, if known, (v) the classification of such operation, if applicable, as an Explorato ry Well or a Delineation Well (vi) a description of the Agreement Lands which comprise the Delineation Penalty Area or the Exploratory Penalty Area, as the case may be and the percentage loss of Working Interest therein applicable to non participation with respect to such operation, if any, and (vii) the estimated cost of such operation in the form of an A.F.E. in sufficient detail to enable the Receiving Parties to identify, in summary form, the estimated costs of the various aspects of such operation
- (b) If the proposed operation is the drilling of a well and the centre points of two (2) or more Sections of the Agreement Lands which could be included in the Exploratory Penalty

Area or the Delineation Penalty Area applicable to such well, as the case may be, are equally distant from the proposed bottom hole location of such well (as defined by the proposed bottom hole coordinates of such well), such that the inclusion of all of such Sections therein would result in there being a total number of Sections therein greater than the number provided for in this Article 900, the Proposing Party shall state in the Independent Operation Notice pertaining to such well those of such equally distant Sections which shall be included in the Exploratory Penalty Area or the Delineation Penalty Area, as the case may be

(c) If (1) an Independent Operation Notice is with respect to the drilling of a well (11) the penalty area applicable to non participation with respect thereto is dependent on the determination of the Prospect to be penetrated by such well, and (iii) such penalty area or, if applicable, the Operation Working Interests of the Parties with respect to such well has neither been agreed upon by the Parties nor determined pursuant to Article 22 00 (Arbitration) in the one (1) year period prior to the issuance of such Independent Operation Notice unless new information has become available since such determination which reasonably indicates that such determination is no longer accurate, such Indepen dent Operation Notice shall also contain the Proposing Party's suggested penalty area, the Proposing Party's suggested Operating Working Interests, if applicable a summary of the Proposing Party's technical justification for such suggestions and notice of a meeting to be held in the Proposing Party's Calgary office not earlier than ten (10), but not later than thirty (30), days following the receipt of such Independent Operation Notice by the Receiving Parties, to attempt to determine such penalty area and, if applicable, the Operation Working Interests, or either of them In the event the Parties are unable to agree on the configuration of such penalty area or, if applicable, such Operation Working Interests within five (5) days following such meeting such Independent Operation Notice shall be void unless (i) the Proposing Party gives a notice pursuant to Clause 22 01 (Submission Of Certain Matters To Arbitration) that it wishes such determination referred to arbitration, or (ii) insofar as such dispute is with respect to an Exploratory Well, the Proposing Party elects to include in such Exploratory Penalty Area those additional Sections specified in subparagraph 9 02B(b)(ii) (Exploratory Penalty Area)

B Reply To Independent Operation Notice

(a) A Receiving Party shall be deemed to have elected not to participate in the operation proposed in an Independent Operation Notice unless, within thirty (30) days of the receipt of such Independent Operation Notice, it has given notice to the Proposing Party and the other Receiving Parties that it elects to participate in such operation. Notwithstanding the foregoing sentence, in the event an Independent Operation Notice requires a determination of the relevant penalty area or the Operation Working Interests of the Parties (if applicable) pursuant to paragraph A(c) of this Clause 903 a Receiving Party may give

such notice within twenty (20) days following such determination or such thirty (30) day period, whichever is the later

(b) Notwithstanding paragraph (a) of this Subclause B, if the proposed operation is the Deepening of a well as described in Subclause 9 01B (Exception To Subclause A) or the drilling of a Delineation Well as described in paragraph 9 01B(b) the time period prescribed in paragraph (a) of this Subclause B shall be reduced to thirty six (36) hours or _____ days respectively during which period all incremental expenses incurred as a consequence of the issuance of such Independent Operation Notice, including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing standby time shall be for the account of the Proposing Party, and, if conducted, the Participants in such operation

C Determination Of Participating Interests

- (a) Unless an Independent Operation Notice is with respect to an operation described in Subclause 9 01B (Exception To Subclause A), an Independent Operation Notice and any election by a Receiving Party to participate in the operation proposed therein shall be the election of the Proposing Party or such Receiving Party as the case may be, to participate in such operation initially only to the extent of its Working Interest or Operation Working Interest, as the case may be Within ten (10) days of the earlier of the receipt of the elections of the Receiving Parties or the expiry of the time period described in paragraph B(a) of of this Clause 9 03, the Proposing Party and each Receiving Party which had elected to participate in such operation shall give notice to the other Parties whether it elects to participate in such operation
 - only to the extent of its Working Interest or Operation Working Interest as the case may be or
 - ii) to the extent of its Working Interest or Operation Working Interest, as the case may be, increased by its proportionate share of the unassumed percentage of participation respecting such operation, with a limitation as to the maximum amount of such increased participation such Party is prepared to accept, or
 - iii) to the extent of its Working Interest or Operation Working Interest, as the case may be, increased by its proportionate share of the unassumed percentage of participation respecting such operation,

Provided that any such Party which either fails to give such notice within such time or which fails to specify the extent of its proposed participation in such notice shall be deemed to have made the election described in subparagraph (1) of this paragraph (a)

- (b) In the event an Independent Operation Notice is with respect to an operation described in Subclause 9 01B (Exception To Subclause A), the Proposing Party and each Receiving Party electing to participate in such operation shall state in such Independent Operation Notice or election, as the case may be, whether it is prepared to participate in such operation
 - 1) only to the extent of its Working Interest or Operation Working Interest, as the case may be, or
 - u) to the extent of its Working Interest or Operation Working Interest, as the case may be, increased by its proportionate share of the unassumed percentage of participation respecting such operation, with a limitation as to the maximum amount of such increased participation such Party is prepared to accept, or
 - iii) to the extent of its Working Interest or Operation Working Interest as the case may be, increased by its proportionate share of the unassumed percentage of participation respecting such operation,

Provided that a Party which does not specify the extent of its proposed participation in such Independent Operation Notice or election, as the case may be, shall be deemed to have made the election described in subparagraph (i) of this paragraph (b)

(c) If, after the process described in paragraph (a) or (b) of this Subclause C, as the case may be, there remains an unassumed percentage of participation respecting the operation proposed in an Independent Operation Notice, such Independent Operation Notice shall be deemed to have been withdrawn by the Proposing Party unless those Parties electing to participate in such operation otherwise agree to assume such unassumed percentage of participation within five (5) days or twelve (12) hours of the completion of such process as the case may be, depending on whether paragraph (a) or (b) respectively of this Subclause is applicable

D Non Participant's Right To Participate In Deepening

57 Clause 9 03

dent Well. Participation in such Deepening shall, however, not affect any prior obligation of such a Non Participant to forfeit an interest hereunder with respect to such Geologic Units by virtue of its non-participation with respect to such Independent Well

	O,	varies of its non-participation with respect to such independent well
E		ependent Operation Notice
	(a)	No single Independent Operation Notice shall relate to more than one proposed Independent Operation
	(b)	No Independent Operation Notice may be issued with respect to an operation which is estimated to be commenced later than months following the issuance of such Independent Operation Notice
	(c)	No Independent Operation Notice may be issued with respect to the proposed Deepening of a well if such well has penetrated what reasonably appears to be a Potentially Productive Unit
	(d)	Other than with respect to (i) a Title Preserving Well or Similar Well (both as defined in Clause 9.06. Wells Which Maintain Title), ii) an Exploratory Well proposed to be drilled not earlier than days prior to the Reversion Date of the Document of Title which includes the proposed location of such well, or (iii) the Deepening of a well or the drilling of a Delineation Well, where Subclause 9.01B (Exception To Subclause A) is applicable, a Party shall not be entitled to issue an Independent Operation Notice respecting the drilling of an Independent Well when
		1) a well is currently being drilled on the Agreement Lands,
		11) the Parties have approved the drilling of a well for the Joint Account, other than in a Forecast, or
		another Independent Operation Notice respecting the drilling of an Independent Well has been issued, until such time as either such notice has been withdrawn or the operation described therein has been completed, or
		iv) the proposed location of such well is within kilometres of a well with respect to which a Party is then being denied information pursuant to paragraph

9 08E(b) (Information), if such Party would be subject to the forfeiture of a portion of its Working Interest hereunder for failure to participate in such proposed well

58 Clause 9 03

F Limit On Commencing Independent Operation

Subject to the provisions of Article 13 00 (Force Majeure), an Independent Operation may be commenced at any time not later than ______ months from the issuance of the Independent Operation Notice pertaining to such Independent Operation and thereafter conducted diligently, unless such notice specified that such operation was to be conducted during a particular operating season, in which case such operation shall be conducted during such operating season. In the event such Independent Operation has not been commenced within such time period such Independent Operation Notice shall thereupon be deemed to have expired, and such Independent Operation shall not be conducted pursuant thereto

G Separate Election Where Well Status Divided

- (a) If the proposed Independent Operation is the drilling of a well which could be in part an Exploratory Well and in part a Delineation Well the Proposing Party shall so indicate in the Independent Operation Notice respecting such operation. Insofar as it can do so in such Independent Operation Notice, such Party shall estimate the costs separately for each portion of such well pursuant to Subclause 9 08G (Allocation Of Well Costs When Participation In Well Differs)
- (b) A Receiving Party which gives notice of its intention to participate in a proposed Independent Well described in paragraph (a) of this Subclause G shall specify in its election whether it participates in such well to the extent only that it is a Delineation Well or in the entire well. In the event a Party which elects to participate in such well does not specify the extent of its participation in its election, such Party shall be deemed to have elected to participate in the entire well.
- (c) If all Receiving Parties elect to participate in such well insofar as it is a Delineation Well, but not all Receiving Parties elect to participate in such well as an Exploratory Well such well shall be drilled for the Joint Account to the extent to which it is a Delineation Well and as an Independent Operation to the extent to which it is an Exploratory Well

9 04 Conduct Of Independent Operation Other Than Drilling

A. Non Participants Not To Receive Information

If an Independent Operation is the conduct of an environmental engineering or socioeconom ic study or the conduct of a geophysical or geological operation (other than drilling), a Non Participant with respect thereto (specify whether * or ** is applicable _____) *shall not be entitled to receive any information hereunder respecting such Independent Operation. / **shall have the right, prior to the end of the calendar year following the calendar year in

which such Independent Operation was completed, to purchase a copy of the basic information obtained from such Independent Operation which would have been provided to it pursuant to Clause 6.17 (Submission Of Information To Parties), by paying to the Participants therein Two Hundred percent (200%) of what such Party's share of the cost of such operation would have been had it been conducted for the Joint Account. Subject to Article 15 00 (Confiden tial Information), ownership of all rights to such information, including all trading rights respecting information obtained from such Independent Operation, shall be the sole property of the Participants therein

B Non Participation Site Survey

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Operating Procedure in the event a site survey conducted as an Independent Operation hereunder is a prerequisite for governmental authority to drill a well hereunder a Non Participant with respect to such site survey which wishes to participate in such well may not participate in such well unless it reimburses the Participants in such site survey an amount equal to Two Hundred percent (200%) of what its share of the cost of such site survey would have been had such operation been conducted for the Joint Account

9 05 Penalty For Independent Drilling

A. Penalty For Independent Exploratory Well

Subject to Clauses 9 06 (Wells Which Maintain Title) and 9 07 (Application Of Forfeitures To Other Sub-Areas), if the Independent Operation proposed in an Independent Operation Notice is the drilling of a well to penetrate one or more Geologic Units in which such well is an Exploratory Well, each Non Participant with respect thereto shall upon the Rig Release of such well and satisfaction of the obligations to the Non Participants hereunder with respect thereto by the Participants in such well, thereupon forfeit to such Participants _______ % of the Working Interest it held in the Exploratory Penalty Area applicable to such well at the time of the issuance of the Independent Operation Notice respecting such well

B Penalty For Independent Delineation Well

Subject to Clauses 9 06 (Wells Which Maintain Title) and 9 07 (Application Of Forfeitures To Other Sub Areas), if the Independent Operation proposed in an Independent Operation Notice is the drilling of a well to penetrate one or more Geologic Units in which such well is a Delineation Well, each Non Participant with respect thereto shall, upon the Rig Release of such well and satisfaction of the obligations to the Non Participants hereunder with respect thereto by the Participants in such well, thereupon forfeit to such Participants the interest described in paragraph _____ [specify (a) or (b)] of this Subclause B, being

60 - Clause 9 05

(a)	% of the Working Interest it held in the Delineation Penalty Area applicable
	to such well at the time of the issuance of the Independent Operation Notice respecting
	such well, or

(b) that percentage of Working Interest it held in the Delineation Penalty Area applicable to such well at the time of the issuance of the Independent Operation Notice respecting such well as determined pursuant to the following formula

$$PI = 40 - (_XS) 4Y$$

Where

PI is that percentage of the Working Interest of a Non Participant which is to be forfeited in the Delineation Penalty Area by such Party,

The blank is filled by a number greater than one and less than one hundred

S is the number of Sections contained in the Delineation Penalty Area and

Y is the number of Delineation Wells previously drilled hereunder to evaluate the Prospect being penetrated by such Delineation Well.

Provided that the percentage of a Non Participant's Working Interest to be forfeited pursuant to this paragraph (b) shall not exceed ____% or be less than ___ %

C Penalty For Independent Deepening

Subject to Clauses 9 06 (Wells Which Maintain Title) and 9 07 (Application Of Forfeitures To Other Sub Areas) and Subclause 9 08G (Allocation Of Well Costs When Participation In Well Differs), if the Independent Operation is the Deepening of a well or the deemed Deepening of a well pursuant to Subclause 6 01G (Approval Mechanism For Supplementary A.F.E. s Drilling), the provisions of Subclause A or Subclause B of this Clause 9 05, as the case may be, shall apply to the extent that such Independent Well penetrates Geologic Units in which such well is an Exploratory Well or a Delineation Well respectively

906 Wells Which Maintain Title

A. Definitions

In this Clause 906, the following definitions shall apply, unless the context otherwise requires

- (a) "Discovery Area Well" means a well which has resulted in the creation of a Discovery Area, whereby the Document of Title pertaining to that portion of the Agreement Lands contained in such Discovery Area is able to be maintained in force by the Parties, or any of them, beyond the Reversion Date of such Document of Title
- (b) Non Validating Party means a Party which was a Non Participant with respect to a Title Preserving Well
- (c) Residual Interest means at any point in time and after the application of the applicable penalty or penalties contained in Clause 9.05 (Penalty For Independent Drilling) in accordance with Subclause 9.06C (Failure To Participate In Subsequent Independent Operations) the entire Working Interest then retained by a Non Validating Party in the Validated Lands
- (d) Similar Well means an Exploratory Well or a Delineation Well as the case may be which had the Title Preserving Well which satisfied the drilling requirement described in paragraph (e) of this Subclause A not been drilled would have satisfied such requirement provided that if the particular Document of Title specifically required the drilling of an Exploratory Well or a Delineation Well as the case may be the Similar Well shall be of a type which would have satisfied such requirement and that if the drilling of the Title Preserving Well before a specified date relieved the Parties of the obligation to post a bond with governmental authorities by such date to secure the drilling of such Title Preserving Well, the Similar Well shall be drilled by such time as would have been permitted for the recovery of such deposit had it been submitted
- (e) <u>Title Preserving Well</u> means an Exploratory Well or a Delineation Well as the case may be the drilling of which satisfies an outstanding drilling requirement in a Document of Title or under the Regulations, where failure to satisfy such drilling requirement would result in the forfeiture of the Agreement Lands subject to such Document of Title in whole or in part, to the grantor of such Document of Title
- (f) "Validated Lands means any Agreement Lands subject to a Document of Title which would have been forfeited to the grantor of such Document of Title had a Title Preserving Well not been drilled, or so much thereof which are held by the Parties or any of them at the time of the drilling of a Similar Well or at the end of that period of such Document of Title which had included the obligation to drill the Title Preserving Well(s) as the case may be
- (g) "Validating Party means a Party which participates in a Title Preserving Well

62 - Clause 9 06

B Failure To Participate In A Title Preserving Well

If less than all of the Parties participate in the drilling of a Title Preserving Well each Non Validating Party with respect thereto shall, in addition to the applicable penalty or penalties described in Clause 9.05 (Penalty For Independent Drilling), execute such trust agreements or assignments respecting the Residual Interest as the Validating Parties may reasonably require to secure the interests which they may acquire pursuant to Subclause E of this Clause 9.06 Insofar as the Validating Parties hold a Non Validating Party's Residual Interest in trust on behalf of such Non Validating Party, such Validating Parties shall hold such Residual Interest as a bare trustee. During the period that such trust is in effect hereunder such Non Validating Party shall retain the rights and remain responsible for the obligations applicable to its Residual Interest, including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, voting rights applicable to such Residual Interest in this Operating Procedure. Any disposition by a Non-Validating Party of its Residual Interest, or any portion thereof, shall be expressly subject to the rights of the Validating Parties pursuant to this Clause 9.06.

C Failure To Participate In Subsequent Independent Operations

If a Non Validating Party does not participate in an Independent Well during the period in which its Residual Interest is held in trust, the Residual Interest shall be reduced by the portion prescribed by the applicable provision of Clause 905 (Penalty For Independent Drilling) which portion of such Residual Interest shall thereupon be assigned to the Participants in such Independent Well

D Participation In Similar Well

If a Non Validating Party participates in the drilling of a Similar Well such Non Validating Party shall be entitled to a reassignment of its Residual Interest from the Validating Parties If, however, a Document of Title requires the drilling of more than one Title Preserving Well, such obligations shall be deemed to be satisfied in the order in which such wells are drilled, provided that a Non Validating Party with respect to one or more of such Title Preserving Wells shall be obligated to participate in the drilling of a Similar Well for each Title Preserving Well in which it did not participate in order to have its Residual Interest reassigned to it

E Failure To Participate In Similar Wells

In the event a Non Validating Party does not participate in the drilling of any Similar Well(s) necessary for a reassignment of its Residual Interest such Non Validating Party shall forfeit its Residual Interest to the Validating Parties at the end of that period of the Document of

Title which had included the obligation to drill the Title Preserving Well(s) or at such earlier date as such Non-Validating Party so elects

F Failure To Participate In Discovery Area Wells

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Article 900, in the event a Party was a Non Participant with respect to a Discovery Area Well and such Party does not participate in at least one (1) subsequent Delineation Well with respect thereto to evaluate the Potentially Productive Units to which such Discovery Area pertains before the Reversion Date of that particular Document of Title to which such portion of the Agreement Lands was subject at the time such Discovery Area Well was drilled, such Party shall forfeit its entire Working Interest in such Discovery Area at the Reversion Date to the Participants in such Discovery Area Well

907 Application Of Forfeitures To Other Sub Areas

A. Where Forfeiture Is Not Based on Prospect

In the event the forfeiture applicable to non participation with respect to an Independent Well is a determinable number of Sections not based on the determination of the Prospect(s) being evaluated by such well and one or more of such Sections is included in a Sub Area other than the Sub Area which includes the proposed bottom hole location of such well (as determined by the proposed bottom hole coordinates of such well), such forfeiture shall apply to such other Sub Area with respect to a Non Participant, as if such well pertained only to one Sub-Area, provided that the Working Interest to be forfeited by such Non Participant in the Sub Area which does not include the proposed location of such well shall not exceed that to be forfeited by it in the Sub Area which includes such location

B Where Forfeiture Is Based On Prospect

In the event the forfeiture applicable to non participation with respect to an Independent Well is a variable number of Sections based on the determination of the Prospect(s) being evaluated by such well and one or more of such Sections is included in a Sub Area other than the Sub Area which includes the bottom hole location of such well (as determined by the proposed bottom hole coordinates of such well) such forfeiture shall also apply to such other Sub Area Notwithstanding the foregoing sentence, a Party which is determined not to have an Operation Working Interest with respect to such well pursuant to Article 4 00 (Management Committee) paragraph 9 03A(c) (Issuance Of An Independent Operation Notice) or Article 22 00 (Arbitration), as the case may be, shall not be required to forfeit any portion of its Working Interest by virtue of its non participation with respect to such well

64 Clause 9 08

9 08 General Provisions Respecting Independent Operations

A. Operating Procedure Provisions To Apply

Subject to the provisions of this Article 9 00, the provisions of this Operating Procedure shall apply mutatis mutandis to an Independent Operation as if it were a Joint Operation, except that the restriction pertaining to the number of Parties prescribed by paragraph 4 04C(a) (Voting Procedure) shall be altered to provide that matters to be determined thereunder shall be determined by the affirmative vote of two (2) or more Participants holding the requisite Participating Interests provided such restriction on the number of Participants shall be inapplicable if there are not greater than two (2) Participants

B Party Conducting Independent Operation

- (a) If the Operator is a Participant in an Independent Operation, the Operator shall conduct such Independent Operation subject to paragraph (b) of this Subclause B
- (b) If the Operator is either a Non Participant or a Participant but not the Proposing Party, with respect to an Independent Well and such well will utilize facilities or equipment held as Joint Property, the Operator shall conduct such Independent Operation pursuant to the directions and instructions of the Participants, provided that the Operator may decline to operate such well (i) if it reasonably believes that the directions and instructions received from the Participants conflict with its duties and obligations pursuant to this Operating Procedure, (ii) if the Operator, in its reasonable judgement believes that such Independent Operation cannot be conducted or cannot be safely conducted in the circumstances then prevailing or with the equipment then available or likely to be available or in accordance with the provisions of the Independent Operation Notice applicable thereto, or (iii) for any other bona fide reason identified to the Participants at the time that the Operator declines to operate such well
- (c) Unless otherwise provided in this Subclause B, the Participants shall appoint a Party to conduct such Independent Operation from amongst the Participants in the same manner as provided in Clause 5 04 (Appointment Of New Operator)

C Benefits And Burdens To Be Shared

If there is more than one Participant in an Independent Operation such Participants shall share and assume all benefits and burdens relating to such Independent Operation in proportion to their Participating Interests in such Independent Operation, subject to Subclause F of this Clause 9 08 Notwithstanding the foregoing sentence, any Working Interest to be forfeited or any cash amount to be paid by a Non Participant with respect to an Independent

Operation pursuant to this Article 900 shall be divided among the Participants in such Independent Operation in the proportions in which such Parties have borne that share of the costs of such Independent Operation otherwise applicable to the Non Participant.

D <u>Use Of Joint Property For Independent Operation</u>

- (a) The Participants shall have the right to utilize facilities or equipment held as Joint Property at their sole cost and risk for the conduct of an Independent Operation provided that such use is permitted pursuant to the applicable contract with the owner of the equipment and that such use allows priority to be given to Joint Operations (including those which have been approved but have not been conducted)
- (b) The Participants so utilizing facilities or equipment held as Joint Property in the conduct of an Independent Operation shall be responsible for all operating costs with respect to such Joint Property resulting from the conduct of such Independent Operation, including any repairs or maintenance expense directly attributable to and made necessary by such use and the costs of depreciation of such Joint Property during the period of such utilization

E Information

- (a) The Participants in (specify whether * or ** is applicable ______) *any Independent Well ______ *an Independent Well which is a Delineation Well shall provide each Non Participant with respect thereto with the information described in Clause 6.17 (Submission Of Information To Parties) on a current basis, as if such well were drilled for the Joint Account, unless and to the extent that a Non Participant advises the Participants that it does not wish to obtain a copy of such information. Each Non Participant which receives such information shall reimburse the Participants for the cost of reproducing and transmitting such information to it
- (b) Notwithstanding paragraph (a) of this Subclause E, such information shall not be provided to such Non Participants on a current basis without the unanimous consent of such Participants if at the time such well is commenced, any lands within _____ kilometres of the proposed bottom hole location of such well (as determined by the proposed bottom hole coordinates of such well) being evaluated by such well are then offered by the relevant governmental authority for disposition by public sale (or the Participants have requested that such lands be so offered for disposition) In such event such information shall be made available to such Non Participants within thirty (30) days after such disposition

(c) Subject to the requirements of disclosure in this Subclause E and the provisions of Article 15 00 (Confidential Information), all information described in this Subclause E shall be the sole property of the Participants in such Independent Well and the Non Participants with respect thereto shall have no rights with respect to such information

F Indemnification And Liability

The Participants in an Independent Operation shall

- (a) be liable to the Non Participants with respect thereto for any losses costs, damages and expenses whatsoever (whether contractual or tortious) which those Non Participants may suffer sustain, pay or incur, and
- (b) in addition, indemnify and hold harmless those Non Participants and their directors officers, servants agents and employees against all actions causes of action proceedings, claims, demands, losses costs damages and expenses whatsoever which may be brought against or suffered by those Non Participants their Affiliates, directors, officers, servants agents and employees or which they may sustain pay or incur,

insofar as they are a direct result of or directly attributable to any act or omission (whether negligent or otherwise) of those Participants or their directors. Affiliates, officers, servants agents, employees, independent contractors, licensees or invitees with respect to such Independent Operation, all subject to paragraph 701(b) (Limit Of Legal Responsibility) when a Non Participant is the Operator for such Independent Operation

G Allocation Of Well Costs When Participation In Well Differs

If the participation in a well drilled pursuant to this Operating Procedure differs because of the provisions of Subclause 601G (Approval Mechanism For Supplementary A.F.E. s Drilling), Subclause 903G (Separate Election Where Well Status Divided) or Subclause 905C (Penalty For Independent Deepening), the Operator shall promptly conduct an inventory of all consumable supplies and materials respecting such well. The affected Parties shall thereupon meet forthwith to attempt to agree on the allocation of Well Costs to the respective portions of such well. In making such determination, the Parties shall allocate the Well Costs which are identifiable with the respective portions of the well in which the participation so differs to the respective portion with respect to which costs are so identifiable, and any other Well Costs shall be allocated in such equitable manner as such Parties may agree. Subject to the foregoing sentence, the following principles shall apply to the allocation of the balance of the Well Costs of such well to the respective portions of such well

- (a) the costs of the logging and Abandonment of such well shall be allocated to the respective portions of such well in the ratio that the meterage of a portion of such well bears to the total depth of such well,
- (b) the costs of the production casing of such well if any shall to the extent that such casing serves the respective portions of such well be allocated to the respective portions of such well in the ratio that the meterage of such casing serving a portion of such well bears to the total meterage of such casing contained in such well and
- (c) the tangible costs of equipment serving the respective portions of the well and the intangible costs of drilling such respective portions of such well shall, subject to paragraph (b) of this Subclause G, be allocated to such respective portions in the ratio that the number of days to drill and to test (if applicable) such portion bears to the total number of days to drill and to test (if applicable) such well

To the extent that such Parties are unable to agree on such allocation of Well Costs a Party shall have the right to refer such matter to arbitration pursuant to Article 22 00 (Arbitration) An allocation made pursuant to this Subclause shall be supported by an approved Supplementary A.F.E. and a revised A.F.E., as required

H Sale Of Petroleum Substances

The Participants in an Independent Well may dispose of any Petroleum Substances recovered during the testing of such well prior to its Rig Release for their own account

10 00 RELATIONSHIP OF PARTIES

10 01 Tenants In Common

The rights, duties, obligations and liabilities of the Parties hereunder shall be separate and not joint or collective, nor joint and several it being the Parties express intention that their interests in the Joint Property shall be held as tenants in common, subject to the modification of the incidents thereof that are provided in this Operating Procedure. Nothing contained in this Operating Procedure shall be construed as creating a partnership joint venture or association of any similar kind or as imposing upon any Party any partnership duty, obligations or liability to any other Party under the laws of Canada

11 00 SURRENDER OF AGREEMENT LANDS

11 01 Surrender Notice

A. <u>Issuance Of Surrender Notice</u>

Not later than sixty (60) days prior to the next ensuing anniversary date or other date on which any obligation must be performed with respect to a Document of Title (hereinafter referred to in this Article 11 00 as the Obligation Date) a Party may give notice (hereinafter referred to in this Article 11 00 as a "Surrender Notice) to the other Parties proposing that all or part of the Agreement Lands subject to such Document of Title be surrendered to the grantor of such Document of Title, provided that such Agreement Lands must be of such dimensions that such grantor would be obligated to accept a surrender thereof pursuant to the Regulations or the provisions of such Document of Title

B <u>Limitation On Issuance Of Surrender Notice</u>

Notwithstanding the provisions of Subclause A of this Clause 11 01, a Party may not, without the approval of the other Parties give a Surrender Notice pertaining to any portion of the Agreement Lands during any emergency respecting such portion of the Agreement Lands or while an obligation contained in a Document of Title to which such Agreement Lands are subject remains unsatisfied, except where such obligation can be avoided, without penalty in addition to that for which a Party would retain responsibility pursuant to Subclause 11 03B (Surrendering Parties Released From Obligations), by a surrender of such Agreement Lands to the grantor thereof

11 02 Reply To Surrender Notice

A. Parties To Elect Whether To Join In Surrender

Each Party receiving a Surrender Notice shall, not later than thirty (30) days prior to the Obligation Date, give a notice (hereinafter referred to in this Article 11 00 as a "Reply Notice) to the other Parties in which it elects whether

- (a) it will join in such surrender,
- (b) it is prepared to retain its Working Interest with respect to all or any portion of the Agreement Lands to which such Surrender Notice pertains without accepting an assignment of any additional Working Interest therein,

- (c) it is prepared to retain its Working Interest and accept an assignment of the Working Interests of the Party which issued the Surrender Notice and those Parties which elect to join in such surrender with respect to all or any portion of the Agreement Lands to which such Surrender Notice pertains, with a limitation as to the maximum additional Working Interest such Party is prepared to accept, or
- (d) it is prepared to retain its Working Interest and accept an assignment of the Working Interests of the Party which issued the Surrender Notice and those Parties which elect to join in such surrender with respect to all or any portion of the Agreement Lands to which such Surrender Notice pertains

Failure by a Party to reply to a Surrender Notice within such thirty (30) day period shall be deemed to have been an election by such Party to accept an assignment of all Working Interests proposed for surrender in that portion of the Agreement Lands to which such Surrender Notice pertains in accordance with paragraph (d) of this Subclause A.

B Working Interests To Be Shared Proportionately

If more than one Party elects to accept an assignment of the Working Interests to be surrendered pursuant to Subclause A of this Clause 11 02 in all or any portion of the Agreement Lands to which the Surrender Notice pertains, the surrendered Working Interests in the relevant portion of such Agreement Lands shall be acquired by each Party making such election in the proportion that its Working Interest bears to the total Working Interests of the Parties accepting such assignment, subject to any limitation described in Subclause A. The Operator shall advise the Parties in a timely manner of the resultant allocations of the Working Interests to be surrendered

C Unassumed Interest

If some (but less than all) of the Parties elect not to surrender their Working Interests in a portion of the Agreement Lands proposed for surrender and a portion of the Working Interests proposed for surrender in such portion remains unassumed hereunder such non surrendering Parties shall, within five (5) days of such allocation, determine whether and how they will assume such available Working Interest. The Operator shall promptly advise the other Parties of such determination

- 70 - Clause 11 03

11 03 Assignment Of Interest Surrendered

A. Assignment

Effective at 11 59 pm on the day prior to the Obligation Date the Parties which elected to surrender an interest in a portion of the Agreement Lands (hereinafter referred to in this Article 11 00 as "the Surrendering Parties) shall forthwith assign to the Parties acquiring a Working Interest in such portion of the Agreement Lands (hereinafter referred to in this Article 11 00 as the Acquiring Parties") all of their Working Interests in such Agreement Lands and any Joint Property thereon Within thirty (30) days following the receipt of such assignment, the Acquiring Parties shall pay to each Surrendering Party such Surrendering Party's Working Interest share of the estimated salvage value of the material and equipment on the Agreement Lands so assigned, less such Surrendering Party's Working Interest share of the estimated costs of salvaging such material and equipment and Abandoning any well on the Agreement Lands so assigned which is required to be Abandoned prior to the termination of the relevant Document of Title by the Regulations This amount shall be calculated immediately prior to such assignment in accordance with the Accounting Procedure
In the event the foregoing deductions are greater than such estimated salvage value each Surrendering Party shall pay its Working Interest share of such difference to the Acquiring Parties within thirty (30) days of such assignment.

B Surrendering Parties Released From Obligations

Upon the assignment described in Subclause A of this Clause 11 03, a Surrendering Party shall be released from all obligations thereafter accruing with respect to the portion of the Agreement Lands so surrendered, other than any obligation which had accrued with respect to such portion of the Agreement Lands prior to such surrender, including without limiting the generality of the foregoing, that portion of any bond, deposit, promissory note or other form of financial responsibility or security which had been required to be submitted to governmental authorities with respect to such portion of the Agreement Lands pursuant to the Regulations or the Documents of Title However, such obligation shall not extend to any outstanding obligation to Abandon any well which had been drilled on such portion of the Agreement Lands prior to such surrender if such Surrendering Party had paid its Working Interest share of the estimated cost of Abandoning such well pursuant to Subclause A of this Clause 11 03

11 04 Acquiring Parties To Meet Obligations

If failure by the Acquiring Parties to satisfy any obligation relating to that portion of the Agreement Lands which was included in the assignment described in Clause 11 03 (Assignment Of Interest Surrendered) would prejudice the Working Interests of the Surrendering Parties in any

other portion of the Agreement Lands, the Acquiring Parties shall be deemed to have covenanted to satisfy such obligation in accepting such assignment, and the Acquiring Parties shall indemnify the Surrendering Parties for any loss suffered by the Surrendering Parties, or any of them, as a direct result of the failure of the Acquiring Parties to satisfy such obligation. However, such covenant shall not require the Acquiring Parties to conduct any drilling, geophysical or geological operation or any study on or relating to such surrendered portion of the Agreement Lands in order to satisfy an outstanding work obligation contained in the Document of Title to which such Agreement Lands are subject

11 05 All Parties Agree To Surrender

Subject to Clause 11 07 (Surrender Of Sub Area) if all of the Parties elect to join in a surrender pursuant to this Article 11 00, the Operator shall forthwith proceed to salvage for the Joint Account all salvageable material and equipment upon that portion of the Agreement Lands to be surrendered. The Parties shall promptly execute and deliver to the Operator all documents necessary to effect such surrender, which documentation shall be prepared by the Operator. The Operator shall thereupon effect such surrender with the grantor of the Documents of Title to which such surrender pertains.

11 06 Failure To Surrender As Agreed

Subject to Clause 11 07 (Surrender Of Sub Area), if all of the Parties have concurred in a proposed surrender pursuant to this Article 11 00, that portion of the Agreement Lands to which the Surrender Notice pertains and which the Parties have elected to surrender shall be held for the Joint Account until such surrender has been irrevocably effected, including the termination of any right to reinstate any Document of Title (insofar as such portion of the Agreement Lands is subject to such Document of Title), so that all of the Parties shall receive or have the right to participate in any benefits which may accrue during the period before such surrender is irrevocably effected. However, if any Party to which any interest is transferred for the purpose of effecting such surrender does not duly proceed with such surrender and thereby causes any additional obligation to arise with respect to that portion of the Agreement Lands to be so surrendered, such Party shall be solely responsible for satisfying such obligation and shall indemnify the other Parties for any loss which they may suffer as a direct result thereof

11 07 Surrender Of Sub Area

A. Notice Of Surrender

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Article 11 00, if the lands to which the Surrender Notice pertains are subject to a Document of Title which includes a Sub Area and all of the Parties holding Working Interests in such Sub Area wish to surrender all or a portion

of such lands pursuant to the preceeding Clauses of this Article 11 00, the Operator (on behalf of such Parties) shall give notice (hereinafter referred to in this Article 11 00 as a "Sub Area Surrender Notice") to the other Related Parties advising such Related Parties of the proposed surrender of such lands not later than twenty (20) days prior to the Obligation Date respecting such lands

B Reply To Sub Area Surrender Notice

Each Related Party receiving a Sub Area Surrender Notice may give a notice to the Operator and the other Related Parties in which it elects to accept an assignment of all or a portion of such lands not later than ten (10) days prior to the Obligation Date respecting the lands to which such Sub Area Surrender Notice pertains. If more than one Related Party elects to accept an assignment of the Working Interest in the lands to which the Sub Area Surrender Notice pertains, the surrendered Working Interest in the relevant portion of such lands shall be acquired by each Related Party making such election in the proportion that its Average Document Interest bears to the total Average Document Interests of the Related Parties which elect to accept such assignment

C Application Of Clauses 11 03 And 11 04

Clauses 11 03 (Assignment Of Interest Surrendered) and 11 04 (Acquiring Parties To Meet Obligations) shall apply mutatis mutandis to the surrender of the lands to which the Sub-Area Surrender Notice pertains

12 00 LITIGATION

12 01 Conduct Of Litigation

Litigation in connection with the Documents of Title, the Agreement Lands or any Joint Operation shall be conducted for the Joint Account on behalf of the Parties pursuant to the direction of the Management Committee, unless and to the extent that such litigation is among the Parties Each Party shall notify the other Parties of any process served upon it or of any process it intends to serve in any action respecting the Documents of Title, the Agreement Lands or any Joint Operation Notwithstanding the foregoing portion of this Clause 12 01 nothing contained in this Clause 12 01 shall preclude a Party from also acting on its own behalf (and at its own expense) if in its opinion, it considers such action advisable or necessary to protect its particular interest hereunder. However a Party so acting on its own behalf shall not pursue a course of action contrary to the course of action then being taken for the Joint Account with respect to such litigation.

73 Clause 13 01

13 00 FORCE MAJEURE

13 01 Suspension Of Obligations Due To Force Majeure

If any Party is prevented by Force Majeure from fulfilling any obligation hereunder the obligations of such Party, insofar only as its obligations are affected by such Force Majeure shall be suspended while such Force Majeure continues to prevent the performance of such obligation and for such time thereafter as such Party may reasonably require to commence diligently to fulfill such obligation provided that a Force Majeure shall not suspend any obligation for either the payment of money or the submission of any form of financial responsibility or security required hereunder Any Party prevented from fulfilling any obligation by Force Majeure shall promptly give the other Parties notice of such obligation and such Force Majeure including reasonably full particulars in respect thereof

13 02 Obligation To Remedy

The Party claiming suspension of any obligation hereunder shall promptly remedy the cause and effect of the Force Majeure described in the notice referred to in Clause 13 01 (Suspension Of Obligations Due To Force Majeure), insofar as it is reasonably able so to do However the terms of settlement of any strike lockout or other industrial disturbance shall be wholly in the discretion of such Party, and such Party shall not be required to accede to the demands of its opponents in any strike lockout or industrial disturbance solely to remedy promptly the Force Majeure thereby constituted

14 00 UNITED STATES TAXES

1401 No US Tax Partnership

If, for purposes of the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended (hereinafter referred to in this Clause 1401 as "the Code), this Operating Procedure or the relationship established thereby constitutes a partnership as defined in Section 761(a) of the Code each of the Parties which are entitled under such Section to elect hereby elects to have such partnership excluded from the application of Subchapter K of Chapter I of Subtitle A of the Code or such portion thereof as the Secretary of the Treasury of the United States, or his delegate shall permit by election to be excluded therefrom. The Operator is authorized to execute such election on behalf of those Parties which are entitled to make such election and to file such election with the proper United States government office or agency. The Operator is further authorized and directed to execute and file such additional and further evidence of such election as may be required all at the expense solely of those Parties subject to the Code. If, however, the Operator is not subject to the Code with respect to the Agreement Lands, the obligations of the Operator under this Clause 1401 shall be fulfilled by the Party which is subject to the Code with respect to the

Agreement Lands and which, among those Parties so subject to the Code holds the greatest Average Interest.

15 00 **CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION**

15 01 Confidentiality Requirement

A. Information Obtained from Operations

Each Party entitled to information obtained in the course of or as a result of operations conducted upon or with respect to the Agreement Lands may use such information for its sole benefit. However, subject to Clause 15 03 (Disclosure Of Information For Consideration) the Parties shall keep confidential from Third Persons all such information, except information which the Parties have expressly agreed among themselves to release or information which is available to the general public pursuant to the Regulations. The Parties shall take such measures in connection with operations and internal security as are appropriate in the circumstances or such additional special measures as may be directed by the Management Committee with respect to any particular operation conducted hereunder

B Permitted Disclosure Of Information

Notwithstanding the provisions of Subclause A of this Clause 15 01, but subject to the direction of the Management Committee to restrict the permitted disclosure of information obtained from an operation conducted hereunder a Party may disclose such information

- (a) when and to the extent required by the Regulations or securities laws applicable to such Party, provided such Party shall invoke any confidentiality protection permitted by such Regulations or laws,
- (b) to an Affiliate provided that such Party shall be deemed to have required such Affiliate to maintain the confidential status of such disclosed information and that such Affiliate shall be deemed to have accepted such obligation,
- (c) to any Third Person to which it has made, or proposes to make, a Disposition (as defined in Clause 20 01 Definitions), insofar as it is with respect to the portion of the Agreement Lands to which such Disposition relates, provided that a binding covenant in the form approved by the Management Committee is obtained from such Third Person prior to such disclosure, which provides that such Third Person shall maintain the confidential status of such disclosed information,

- (d) to the technical, financial or other professional consultants of such Party which require such information to provide their services to such Party or to a bank or other financial institution from which such Party is attempting to obtain financing provided that a binding covenant in the form approved by the Management Committee is obtained from such consultant or financier as the case may be prior to such disclosure which provides inter alia, that none of such information shall be disclosed to any other Third Person or used for any purposes other than advising such Party or providing financing to such Party
- (e) to a Third Person pursuant to Clause 15 03 (Disclosure Of Information For Consideration), provided that a binding covenant in the form approved by the Management Committee is obtained from such Third Person prior to such disclosure, which provides that such Third Person shall maintain the confidential status of such disclosed information and
- (f) with the prior written approval of the other Parties and as and when required to any recognized association within the petroleum industry of which such Party is a member provided such association engages in the exchange of factual information relating to the type of operations conducted pursuant to this Operating Procedure

but any information so disclosed shall continue to be treated as confidential by the Parties until it becomes available to the general public pursuant to the Regulations or with the unanimous written consent of the Parties having an interest in the same

C Patentable Information Subject To Confidentiality Requirement

The Parties recognize that a Party or an Affiliate of a Party may hold patents (or may be in the process of acquiring the same) with respect to certain processes, procedures or equipment (hereinafter referred to in this Article 15 00 as Patentable Information) and that such Party may disclose Patentable Information for the benefit of operations conducted pursuant to this Operating Procedure Notwithstanding the provisions of Subclause B of this Clause 15 01 the Parties shall keep confidential from Third Persons all Patentable Information used or disclosed hereunder and they shall not use the same except in the furtherance of work conducted pursuant to this Operating Procedure, provided, however that the confidentiality obligation with respect thereto shall not apply to any Patentable Information which a Party can demonstrate to have been

- (a) information which was in the public domain at the time of such disclosure
- (b) information which entered the public domain after such disclosure except where such entry was the result of a breach of the provisions of this Article 15 00

- (c) information which, prior to such disclosure, was already in the possession of the Party to which it was disclosed and which was not acquired, directly or indirectly, from another Party under an obligation of confidence or
- (d) information which subsequent to disclosure hereunder was obtained from a Third Person which was lawfully in possession of such information and which was not under a contractual or fiduciary obligation with respect to such information

15 02 Press Releases

Without limiting the generality of Clause 15 01 (Confidentiality Requirement), no Party may issue a press release relating to the Agreement Lands or operations conducted pursuant to this Operating Procedure without the prior approval of the Management Committee, provided that such limitation shall not prevent the Operator from issuing a press release respecting an emergency. In no event however shall a Party disclose in a press release information which it is required to maintain confidential pursuant to Clause 15 01 without the unanimous consent of the Management Committee. For the purposes of this Clause 15 02, a press release shall include any release of information for dissemination to the public by any means

15 03 <u>Disclosure Of Information For Consideration</u>

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Article 15 00, a Party which proposes to disclose information obtained hereunder for cash in exchange for other information or for other consideration shall notify each other Party having a proprietary interest in such information of the details of such proposed transaction. Within fifteen (15) days following receipt of such notice, each such Party shall, by notice, advise the Party which proposes to make such disclosure whether it approves of such disclosure on the terms specified in such notice provided that failure of a Party to respond within such period shall be deemed to be the approval of such Party to the disclosure of such information on such terms. Unless the Party which proposes to disclose such information obtains such approvals from all of such other Parties, the proposed disclosure of such information shall be prohibited. In the event such approvals are obtained, the consideration to be received for such disclosure shall be shared by the Parties in the proportions of their proprietary interests in such information.

15 04 Confidentiality Requirement To Continue

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Article 15 00 any Party which otherwise ceases to be bound by the provisions of this Operating Procedure shall nevertheless remain bound by the provisions of this Article 15 00 with respect to information obtained in the course of or as a result of operations conducted upon or with respect to the Agreement Lands or with respect to Patentable Information as the case may be, until such information is in the public domain

77 Clause 16 01

16 00 PATENTS

16 01 Patentable Processes Held As Joint Property

Any patentable processes procedures or equipment which arise out of any agreement entered into for the Joint Account respecting the development of equipment or methods required in Joint Operations shall be Joint Property

17 00 **WAIVER**

17 01 Waiver Must Be In Writing

No waiver by any Party of any breach (whether actual or anticipated) of any of the covenants provisos conditions restrictions or stipulations herein contained shall take effect or be binding upon such Party unless the same is expressed in writing under the authority of such Party Any waiver so given shall extend only to the particular breach so waived and shall not limit or affect any rights with respect to any other or future breach

17 02 Deemed Waiver With Respect To Certain Procedural Matters

Notwithstanding any other provision contained in this Operating Procedure, the Operator shall be deemed to have satisfied its obligations with respect to any procedural matter which was to be performed or initiated by the Operator prior to the execution of the Agreement However, this Clause 17 02 shall not operate to relieve the Operator of its obligations of a procedural nature insofar as it is still possible for the Operator to satisfy such procedural obligations as of the execution of the Agreement, or of its obligations of a substantive nature in any event

18 00 NOTICES

18 01 Service Of Notices

Except as otherwise provided in this Operating Procedure all notices, reports, information data and other communications required or permitted hereunder shall be in writing. Any notice required or permitted to be given hereunder by one Party to the other Parties shall be deemed to be properly served if served in any of the following modes

(a) Personally by delivering the notice to the Party upon which such notice is to be served at such Party's address for service. A notice served in this manner shall be deemed to have been received by such Party on the date upon which such notice is actually delivered, provided such delivery is during such Party's normal business hours on any day other than a Saturday, Sunday provincial statutory holiday in the Province of Alberta or federal statutory holiday in Canada

and, if such delivery is not during such Party's normal business hours, such notice shall be deemed to have been received by such Party at the commencement of the first business day of such Party next following the date upon which such notice is actually delivered.

78

- (b) By telecopier or telex directed to the Party upon which such notice is to be served at such Party s address for service. A notice so served shall be deemed to have been received by such Party when actually received by it if received during such Party s normal business hours on any day other than a Saturday, Sunday provincial statutory holiday in the Province of Alberta or federal statutory holiday in Canada or at the commencement of the first business day of such Party next following the date of such transmission if such notice is not received during such normal business hours.
- (c) By first class double registered mail or unregistered first class mail postage paid, directed to the Party upon which such notice is to be served at such Party's address for service. A notice served in this manner shall be deemed to have been received by such Party on the day it is actually received if sent by double registered mail or on the fifth day (excluding Saturdays Sundays provincial statutory holidays in the Province of Alberta or federal statutory holidays in Canada) next following the mailing thereof if sent by unregistered first class mail. However, if postal service is interrupted or operating with unusual or imminent delay, notice shall not be served by such means during such interruption or period of delay.
- (d) By telephone, if a Party in its reasonable judgment determines that service of notice in accordance with paragraphs (a) (b) or (c) of this Clause 18 01 would not be sufficiently expeditious in a particular instance. However, such notice shall only be considered a valid notice and be deemed to have been received by the receiving Party at the conclusion of such conversation, if
 - i) such telephone conversation is with an authorized representative of the Party upon which such notice is to be served, and for these purposes an authorized representative of a Party shall be that Party's representative on the Management Committee (or its alternate if its representative is unavailable) or any other person specifically authorized by such Party to accept a telephone notice hereunder,
 - ii) such telephone conversation takes place on a business day in a call to such authorized representative at the office of such Party, unless such limitation is waived by such Party or such authorized representative is officially on duty for the purposes of this Operating Procedure at the time of such conversation, and
 - iii) such telephone conversation and notice are confirmed by telecopier, telex or notice personally delivered by the Party giving such notice, provided such confirmation is received

by the addressee thereof no later than the first business day of the addressee next following the date of transmission or delivery, as the case may be

18 02 Forty Eight Hour Notices

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Article 1800, notice shall be given by telephone telecopier, telex or personal delivery in accordance with the foregoing provisions of this Article 1800 where this Operating Procedure provides for a notice period of forty-eight (48) hours or less

18 03 Address For Service

A. Addresses

The address for service of each of the Parties shall be as listed in Schedule E

B Change Of Address

A Party may change its address for service by notice served on the other Parties and such changed address for service shall thereafter be effective for all purposes of this Operating Procedure

19 00 NO PARTITION

19 01 Waiver Of Partition Or Sale

No Party shall have the right to apply for any partition of the Agreement Lands or sale thereof in lieu of partition. Insofar as such right may otherwise exist at law or in equity each Party agrees not to exercise such right

20 00 <u>DISPOSITION OF INTERESTS</u>

20 01 Definitions

The following definitions shall apply in this Article 2000, unless the context otherwise requires

A. "Disposition means a sale, assignment transfer, lease, sublease, farmout or other disposition of any portion of a Party's Working Interest, other than an assignment made by way of security for a Party's indebtedness

- B "Disposition Notice" means a written notice from a Disposing Party stating its intention to Dispose of all or any portion of its Working Interest pursuant to this Article 20 00, including a description of the Working Interest to be so Disposed of, the identity of the intended assignee and the price or other consideration for which such Disposing Party is prepared to make such Disposition
- C "Disposing Party means a Party which Disposes of or intends to Dispose of any of its Working Interest pursuant to this Article 20 00
- D Offeree" means a Party other than the Disposing Party insofar as Subclause 20 02C (First Right Of Refusal) is applicable

20 02 Right To Dispose Of Interest

A. Designation Of Disposition Mechanism

Except as required or p	permitted in the other Articles of this Operating Procedure, no Party
	tion of its Working Interest without first complying with the provisions
of Subclause	of this Clause 2002 (specify B or C)

B Written Consent To Disposition Required

A Party which intends to make a Disposition hereunder shall first notify the other Parties of its intention to make such Disposition and the identity of the proposed assignee, and obtain their written consent to such Disposition which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld by a Party Failure of a Party to respond to such notice within thirty (30) days of the receipt thereof shall be deemed to be the consent of such Party to such Disposition. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing sentence, it shall be deemed to be reasonable for a Party to withhold its consent to a Disposition if the Disposing Party has not demonstrated to the reasonable satisfaction of such Party that such proposed assignee has the financial capability to meet prospective obligations arising out of this Operating Procedure, including the subsequent development of a portion of the Agreement Lands

C First Right Of Refusal

- (a) A Disposing Party shall forward the Offerees a Disposition Notice
- (b) In the event the consideration described in the Disposition Notice cannot be matched in kind and such Disposition Notice does not include the Disposing Party s bona fide estimate of the value, in cash, of such consideration, an Offeree may, within ten (10) days of the receipt by the Offerees of such Disposition Notice, request the Disposing Party to provide

such estimate to the Offerees whereupon the Disposing Party shall provide such estimate in a timely manner

81

- (c) In the event of a dispute as to the reasonableness of an estimate of the cash value of the consideration described in the Disposition Notice or provided pursuant to paragraph (b) of this Subclause C as the case may be, the matter may be referred to arbitration pursuant to Article 22 00 (Arbitration) within ten (10) days of the receipt of such estimate. The equivalent cash consideration determined in such arbitration shall thereupon be deemed to be the sale price for the Working Interest described in such Disposition Notice (hereinafter referred to in this Article 20 00 as the Arbitrated Value)
- (d) Within i) thirty (30) days from the receipt of a Disposition Notice ii) ten (10) days from the receipt of an estimate provided pursuant to paragraph (b) of this Subclause C, or iii) if applicable, ten (10) days from receipt of notice of the Arbitrated Value whichever is the latest an Offeree may give notice to the Disposing Party that it elects to purchase the Working Interest described in such Disposition Notice (hereinafter referred to in this Article 20 00 as a Notice of Acceptance) A Notice of Acceptance shall create a binding contractual obligation upon the Disposing Party to sell, and upon an Offeree giving a Notice of Acceptance to purchase, for the applicable price all of the Working Interest included in such Disposition Notice. However, if more than one Offeree gives a Notice of Acceptance, each such Offeree shall purchase the Working Interest to which such Notice of Acceptance pertains in the proportion that its Working Interest bears to the total Working Interests of such Offerees
- (e) In the event that the Working Interest described in the Disposition Notice is not Disposed of to one or more of the Offerees pursuant to this Subclause C the Disposing Party may subject to obtaining the consents prescribed by Subclause B of this Clause 20 02 Dispose of such Working Interest at any time within one (1) year from the issuance of such Disposition Notice provided that such Disposition is not on terms that are more favourable to such purchaser than those offered in the Disposition Notice
- (f) Following a Disposition pursuant to this Subclause C or one (1) year following the issuance of a Disposition Notice from which a Disposition did not result as the case may be, the provisions of this Subclause C shall once again apply to the Working Interest described in the Disposition Notice

82 Clause 20 03

20 03 Exceptions To Clause 20 02

The provisions of Clause 2002 (Right To Dispose Of Interest) shall not apply to the following Dispositions

- (a) a Disposition by a Party to an Affiliate, or in consequence of a merger or amalgamation of such Party with another corporation or pursuant to a Disposition by such Party of its entire Working Interest to a corporation in return for shares in such corporation or to a registered partnership in return for an interest in such partnership
- (b) a Disposition by a Party of all, or substantially all, or of an undivided interest in all or substantially all, of its petroleum and natural gas rights in Canada and
- (c) a Disposition by a Party in which the Net Hectares being Disposed of by such Party in the Agreement Lands represent less than five percent (5%) of the total net hectares being disposed of by such Party pursuant to that transaction

Provided that the Disposing Party shall advise the other Parties of such a Disposition in a timely manner

20 04 Novation Upon Disposition

A. Effect Of Disposition

No Disposition of a Working Interest in the Agreement Lands pursuant to this Article 20 00 whether made voluntarily or by operation of law shall be effective against the Parties which are not parties to such Disposition unless and until the Party or Third Person acquiring such Working Interest assumes the obligations of the Disposing Party with respect to such Working Interest through a novation agreement with the Parties

B Affiliate Failure To Perform

Notwithstanding Subclause A of this Clause 20 04, in the event a Disposing Party Disposes of a Working Interest to an Affiliate of such Party and such Affiliate becomes a Party pursuant to such Subclause then, so long as such Parties remain Affiliates and Parties the Parties may proceed against such Disposing Party for the performance of such Affiliates and obligations hereunder if such Affiliate fails to carry out any of such duties and obligations regardless of whether all remedies have been commenced or exhausted against such Affiliate

C No Novation Agreement

Where the Party or Third Person which acquires a Working Interest from a Disposing Party (including for the purpose of this Subclause an assignment made by way of security for a Party s indebtedness) does not assume the obligations of the Disposing Party through a novation agreement in accordance with Subclause A of this Clause 20 04, the Disposing Party shall ensure that there is a separate agreement between the Disposing Party and its assignee pursuant to which such assignee shall hold such interest subject to the terms of the Agreement including a provision that such assignee cannot dispose of any portion of its interest without having such Disposing Party first comply with the provisions of this Article 20 00 on behalf of such assignee

20 05 Multiple Assignment Not To Increase Costs

If any Disposition of a Working Interest pursuant to this Article 20 00 is made to multiple assignees so as to increase the expenses or duties of the Operator the Operator may require the assignees (and the Disposing Party if it retains a Working Interest) to appoint one of their number to represent all of them for the purposes of this Operating Procedure, unless arrangements satisfactory to the Operator are made to compensate it for such increased expenses or duties

21 00 **DELINQUENT PARTY**

21 01 Classification As Delinquent Party

If a Party changes its address and does not provide the other Parties with notice of its changed address for service and subsequently cannot readily be located or if a Party becomes inactive is struck off the corporate register or otherwise consistently refuses or neglects to respond to communications addressed to it at its address for service the Operator may, if so directed by the Management Committee, send a notice to such Party at its address for service stating therein that such Party is considered a delinquent Party within the meaning of this Article 21 00

21 02 Effect Of Classification As Delinquent Party

From the fifteenth (15th) day after the Operator has forwarded the notice described in Clause 21 01 (Classification As Delinquent Party) the delinquent Party shall, subject to Clause 21 04 (Restoration Of Status)

(a) not be entitled to any further notice or communications from the Operator or any other Party with respect to any matter hereunder,

- (b) be deemed to have elected not to participate in any operation proposed to be conducted for the Joint Account, provided that such Party shall nevertheless remain responsible for its share of the cost of a Joint Operation approved pursuant to paragraph 4 04C(a) (Voting Procedure) and
- (c) be deemed to have elected to join in all surrenders. Abandonments, farmouts and other dispositions respecting the Working Interests of all the other Parties in all or any portion of the Agreement Lands

21 03 Funds To Be Held In Trust

In the event that funds accrue for the Joint Account or there are surplus funds following the sale of a portion of a delinquent Party's interest in the Joint Property pursuant to paragraph 8 04B(c) (Operator's Rights), the Operator shall hold such delinquent Party's share of such funds in trust for it subject to the deduction of such Party's share of subsequent costs paid for the Joint Account

21 04 Restoration Of Status

If a delinquent Party subsequently communicates with the Operator, pays all amounts owing by it hereunder, satisfies all of its other outstanding obligations hereunder and undertakes in writing to comply from that time with the provisions of this Operating Procedure, such Party's rights and obligations hereunder shall be restored to it. In such event, however, such Party shall be deemed to have ratified all actions taken pursuant to this Article 21 00 including without limiting the generality of the foregoing, any elections or transactions made on its behalf pursuant to Clause 21 02 (Effect Of Classification As Delinquent Party)

21 05 Operator's Lien Not Affected

Nothing in this Article 21 00 shall derogate from the utilization of the provisions of Clause 8 04 (Operator's Lien) and Clause 8 05 (Reimbursement Of Operator) with respect to the financial default of a delinquent Party

85 - Clause 22 01

22 00 ARBITRATION

22 01 Submission Of Certain Matters To Arbitration

A. Certain Disputes To Be
Referred to Arbitration Upon Request

If there is a dispute between or among the Parties with respect to

- (a) the classification of a well as a Delineation Well or as an Exploratory Well,
- (b) the determination of a Geologic Unit or the classification of a Geological Unit as a Potentially Productive Unit
- (c) the correction of a Schedule pursuant to paragraphs 1 02B(b) (Revision Of Schedules) and 4 04C(b) (Voting Procedure)
- (d) the allocation of rights and obligations among the Parties pursuant to Subclause 3 02B (Matters Pertaining To Specific Portion Of Agreement Lands) and Article 8 00 (Joint Costs And Expenses),
- (e) audit exceptions, subject to paragraph 404C(b) (Voting Procedure),
- (f) the determination of the voting interest which is to be used in the conduct of a vote pursuant to Clause 4 04 (Decisions Of Management Committee Conduct Of Votes),
- (g) the determination of a Prospect
- (h) the determination of Operation Working Interests
- (1) the costs and expenses for which the Operator is to be reimbursed pursuant to Subclause 5 03E (Compensation For Replaced Operator),
- (j) the determination of a Stratigraphic Equivalent pursuant to Article 900 (Independent Operations)
- (k) the allocation of Well Costs pursuant to Subclause 9 08G (Allocation Of Well Costs When Participation In Well Differs) or
- (l) the determination of an equivalent cash value pursuant to Subclause 20 02C (First Right Of Refusal),

a Party may give notice to the other Parties that it wishes such dispute referred to arbitration (hereinafter referred to in this Article 22.00 as a "Notice to Arbitrate"), whereupon such dispute shall be submitted to arbitration in accordance with the provisions of this Article 22.00

B Certain Disputes To Be Referred To Arbitration By Management Committee

Subject to Subclause A of this Clause 22 01, if there is a dispute between or among the Parties with respect to any matter arising out of this Operating Procedure which is not determinable by the voting procedures contained in this Operating Procedure, a Party may refer such dispute to the Management Committee for a determination of whether such dispute shall be submitted to arbitration in accordance with the provisions of this Article 22 00, provided that if such a dispute is between or among less than all of the Parties, such dispute shall be submitted to arbitration if all of the Parties to such dispute agree to submit such dispute to arbitration

22 02 Selection Of Arbitrator

A. Operator To Request Nominations

Within five (5) days of the receipt of a Notice to Arbitrate or the determination to refer a dispute to arbitration pursuant to Subclause 22 01B (Certain Disputes To Be Referred To Arbitration By Management Committee), as the case may be the Operator shall, by notice to the Parties involved in such dispute, request such Parties to nominate independent consultants (or firms thereof) who they believe have the technical expertise to be qualified to act as the arbitrator in such arbitration. Subject to Subclause C of this Clause 22 02, each such Party may nominate one such independent consultant (or firm of such consultants) by notifying the other Parties involved in such dispute of its nomination within five (5) days of the receipt of such notice from the Operator

B Management Committee To Select Arbitrator

Subject to Subclause C of this Clause 22 02, the Management Committee or the Parties to such dispute, as the case may be, shall meet to select a single arbitrator from the list of nominees submitted by the Parties pursuant to Subclause A of this Clause 22 02. If after voting four (4) times the Management Committee does not select such arbitrator or if the Parties to such dispute cannot agree on the selection of an arbitrator, as the case may be, the Operator shall thereupon forthwith make application to a judge of the Court of Queen's Bench of the Province of Alberta pursuant to the Arbitration Act of the Province of Alberta (R S A. 1980 c A-43, as amended from time to time) for the appointment of a single arbitrator from such list as modified by Subclause C of this Clause 22 02

C Certain Nominees Ineligible To Be Selected Arbitrator

No Party which makes a nomination pursuant to Subclause A of this Clause 22 02 shall so nominate an independent consultant (or firm thereof) which is acting (or has acted) on such Party's behalf with respect to the Agreement Lands. Any Party receiving notice of another Party's nominee shall immediately advise the other Parties if such nominee is so acting (or has so acted) on such receiving Party's behalf, whereupon such nominee shall be excluded from the list of potential arbitrators. In such event, the Party which had nominated such nominee shall be entitled to nominate an additional independent consultant in replacement therefor within the later of two days following receipt of such notice or the expiry of the period described in Subclause A of this Clause 22.02

22 03 Conduct Of Arbitration

A. Instruction To And Duties Of Arbitrator

The arbitrator selected pursuant to Subclause 22 02B (Management Committee To Select Arbitrator) shall, within seven (7) days of his selection, be provided with

- (a) all relevant data obtained for the Joint Account and pertaining to the relevant dispute which is held by the Operator,
- (b) further submissions by Parties desiring to make such submissions at a meeting of the Parties in the Operator's Calgary office, and
- (c) an instruction from the Operator to render decision on only such matters as remain in dispute

B Arbitration Procedures

Except to the extent modified in this Article 22.00 the arbitrator shall conduct such arbitration in accordance with the provisions of the Arbitration Act of the Province of Alberta

C Arbitrator's Decision

The arbitrator shall advise the Parties of the decision on the dispute which is the subject of the arbitration within thirty (30) days of such arbitrator's selection pursuant to Subclause 22 02B (Management Committee To Select Arbitrator) Such decision in final form, shall be final and binding upon the Parties, subject to Subclause D of this Clause 22 03

D Review Of Arbitrator's Decision

Notwithstanding Subclause C of this Clause 22.03, any Party may apply by Statement of Claim within thirty (30) days of an arbitrator's decision hereunder to the Court of Queen's Bench of Alberta for a declaration that such decision is void or erroneous by reason of (i) an error of law, (ii) a patent error in a determination of fact (iii) a denial of natural justice or (iv) the arbitrator having exceeded the jurisdiction given to it under this Article 22.00. Upon ruling on the application for a declaration the Court of Queen's Bench may either confirm the arbitrator's decision or declare such decision to be erroneous and of no effect in which case the Court may direct the Parties to resubmit to arbitration or may correct the decision

E. Costs Of Arbitration

The costs of an arbitration are in the discretion of the arbitrator of such arbitration, who shall direct by which Parties and in what manner such costs shall be paid

23 00 MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

23 01 Time Of Essence

Time shall be of the essence in this Operating Procedure

23 02 No Amendment Except In Writing

Except as otherwise provided in this Operating Procedure, no amendment or variation of the provisions of this Operating Procedure shall be binding upon any Party unless and until it is evidenced in writing executed by the Parties

23 03 Enurement

Subject to the express provisions hereof, this Operating Procedure shall enure to the benefit of and shall bind the Parties and their respective successors and assigns and the heirs executors, administrators and assigns of natural persons who become Parties

23 04 Responsibility For Encumbrances

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Operating Procedure, if a Party's Working Interest is or becomes burdened with any overriding royalty net profits interest, production payment, other charge of a similar nature which is not borne for the Joint Account or other encumbrance, such Party shall be solely responsible for such additional burden. In the event of any surrender or

90 - Clause 23 09

23 09 Further Assurances

Each Party shall from time to time and at all times do all such further acts and execute and deliver all further deeds and documents as may be reasonably required in order to perform and to fulfill the terms of this Operating Procedure

23 10 Waiver Of Relief

The Parties acknowledge that any default, forfeiture or penalty provisions contained in this Operating Procedure are, in view of the risks inherent in the exploration for Petroleum Substances reasonable and equitable Each Party waives any and all rights which it may have at law, in equity or by the Regulations, against default, forfeiture or penalty if such provisions are invoked.

23 11 Term

Subject to Clause 15 04 (Confidentiality Requirement To Continue), this Operating Procedure shall terminate when no portion of the Agreement Lands is owned jointly by two (2) or more Parties or at that later date upon which, joint ownership continuing, all Documents of Title have terminated and all wells on the Agreement Lands have been Abandoned, all equipment relating thereto has been salvaged and a final settlement of accounts has been made among the Parties provided that those provisions related to audit, liability, indemnity disposal and salvage of material and enforcement on default shall survive for six (6) years thereafter